





Annual Report 2019-2020

Table of Contents

Accountability Statement.	C
Management's Responsibility for Reporting	6
Message from the President and CEO and the Chair of the Board of Governors	7
Operational Overview	9
Goals, Expected Outcomes and Performance Measures	12
Accessibility	12
Affordability	18
Quality	20
Coordination	25
Government Priorities	28
Financial and Budget Information	29
Results Compared to Prior Year	29
Results Compared to Budget	30
Cash Flows	31
Financial Position	31
Impact of COVID-19 Pandemic	32
Self-Generated Revenue	33
Research, Applied Research, and Scholarly Activities	34
Applied Research in the Arts	
Research for the Advancement of Culture, Arts, and Leadership	
Regional Stewardship, Foundational Learning, Underrepresented Learners	35
Underropresented Learners	26

Internationalization	37
Capital Plan	38
Deferred Maintenance	38
Debt Financing for IT Requirements and Essential Equipment	38
Priority Projects	39
Priority 1: Performing Arts and Learning Complex Phase 1 – Preservation and New Construction	39
Priority 2: Performing Arts and Learning Complex Phase 2 – Capital Renewal	40
Priority 3: Affordable Practicum and Staff Housing – Preservation and New Construction	40
Information Technology	41
Continuous improvement in security practices to protect digital assets and user privacy	41
Revitalizing infrastructure and enterprise applications	42
Major information technology systems	42
Banff Centre for Arts and Creativity Supporters	43
Consolidated Financial Statements	53
Governance	75

Note to Reader

Board of Governors of The Banff Centre (operating as Banff Centre for Arts and Creativity) ("Banff Centre" or "the Centre") is a corporation that operates under the *Post-Secondary Learning Act* (Alberta).

As mandated by the Ministry of Advanced Education, Banff Centre for Arts and Creativity is pleased to present this Annual Report on progress towards the goals and outcomes for 2019/2020.

Accountability Statement

Banff Centre's Annual Report for the year ending March 31, 2020 was prepared under the direction of Banff Centre's Board of Governors ("the Board") in accordance with the Fiscal Planning and Transparency Act and ministerial guidelines established pursuant to the *Post-Secondary Learning Act*. All material economic, environmental or fiscal implications of which we are aware have been considered in the preparation of the Annual Report.

Adam Waterous

Chair, Board of Governors

Management's Responsibility for Reporting

Banff Centre management is responsible for the preparation, accuracy, objectivity, and integrity of the information contained in the Annual Report including the financial statements, performance results, and supporting management information. Systems of internal control are designed and maintained by management to produce reliable information to meet reporting requirements. The system is designed to provide management with reasonable assurance that transactions are properly authorized, are executed in accordance with all relevant legislation, regulations and policies, reliable financial records are maintained, and assets are properly accounted for and safeguarded.

The Annual Report has been developed under the oversight and approval of the Board and is prepared in accordance with the *Fiscal Planning and Transparency Act* and the *Post-Secondary Learning Act*.

Janice Price

President and CEO

Jane Juie

Bruce Byford

Vice-President, Administration and CFO

Message from the President and CEO and the Chair of the Board of Governors

From April 2019 – March 2020, Banff Centre for Arts and Creativity continued to serve the lifelong learning goals of Albertans and Canadians, contributing to the development of thousands of artists and leaders and the production of creative work that is "in and of our times".

Since then, however, the COVID-19 pandemic has had particular and unique impacts on all aspects of Banff Centre. The Government of Alberta declared a state of public emergency on March 17th, 2020 and issued various orders including restrictions on gatherings. In early April, Parks Canada suspended all visitor services in Banff National Park and access to the Town was restricted. In June 2020, the Centre had to take the unfortunate and difficult step of permanently laying off a significant number of its employees in response to a dramatically impacted business model. In these challenging times, Banff Centre appreciated Advanced Education's agreement to accept an Interim Annual Report in September.

Situated on Treaty 7 territory in beautiful Banff National Park, Banff Centre contributes to national creative and arts community development, by serving indigenous communities, engaging the general public and increasing human capital attraction to the Bow Valley. Banff Centre programming is recognized for its quality at provincial, national and international levels. Each year many of the student-initiated projects developed at Banff Centre go on to be professionally produced, performed, published or exhibited in venues across the globe.

By providing a range of opportunities and responding to stakeholder feedback, Banff Centre helps build a productive workforce, empowering students to make meaningful contributions to their communities, organizations, fields and sectors. Banff Centre alumni often describe their experience at Banff Centre as having had a significant impact on the course of their career, resulting in increased employability or demand for their work.

As a Canadian centre of excellence for conferences and summits, Banff Centre is uniquely positioned to play a pivotal role in bridging the current cultural policy gaps and strengthen the ecosystem of public discourse, innovation, and policy study.

In November, 2019 Banff Centre held the *Arts, Culture, and Digital Transformation Summit*, designed to ignite curiosity, confidence and enthusiasm within Canadian art-making practices, which are facing a rapidly digitizing world. Focusing on new and emerging digital and media technologies for artists, the summit attracted a unique combination of over 140 artists, arts organization leaders, researchers, technologists, policy makers, and funders. It was live streamed to the public and connected to seven remote site "viewing parties" across Canada, including Newfoundland, Fredericton, Montreal, Toronto, North Bay, Whitehorse and Squamish.

Banff Centre is also a recognized global leader in research, education and facilitation. Continuing its commitment to implement the Truth and Reconciliation Commission's Calls to Action and in response to growing demand from philanthropists, corporations and provincial and federal Government agencies, the Centre has increased its delivery of custom leadership programming in this area.

Public events and artistic presentations at Banff Centre in 2019-20 included performances, festivals and collaborative presentations by Canadian performing arts companies. The events created opportunities for audiences to engage with and experience art and culture through a range of rich and accessible creative offerings. Highlights included internationally recognized singer-songwriter Martyn Joseph, who not only performed for a live audience but also served as a faculty member for Banff Centre's singer-songwriter residency program.

Other musical performances such as those by Indigenous Artists including Celeigh Cardinal, Leela Gilday, Edmonton singer/songwriter Jay Gilday and Nunavut's iconic Susan Aglkark ignited the community and were met by diverse, appreciative and enthusiastic audiences.

The 13th Banff International String Quartet Competition (BISQC) was held from August 26 to September 1, 2019. The competition featured ten of the world's best emerging string quartets with the top prize awarded jointly to the Marmen Quartet (UK) and Viano String Quartet (Can/USA). During the competition each quartet performed four programs over 12 concerts for a distinguished jury and an eager audience. The audience of nearly 10,000 broke attendance records for BISQC, as the 15 concerts represented an 8% increase over the previous competition's single ticket sales, and a 17.5 % increase for package sales (with accommodation and meals).

As a leader in Arts/Leadership focused training, Banff Centre continues to partner with other members of Alberta's adult learning system to increase its efficiency and effectiveness in serving its learners. Banff Centre establishes collaborative, project-based relationships with other post-secondary institutions to create new opportunities for learning in Alberta, identifying both opportunities and efficiencies within the overall Campus Alberta system.

In 2019/20, Banff Centre partnered with the University of Calgary (U of C) to design and deliver the *Indigenous Wisdom Thought Leadership Forum* where fifty Indigenous scholars gathered to discuss how to authentically incorporate Indigenous wisdom into the development of university curriculum. Banff Centre is also exploring with the U of C a collaboration where Banff Centre Press would continue to publish content, but benefit from the operations and distribution channels of the larger U of C Press. Banff Centre also worked with Mount Royal University on the development of a program in support of its Advanced Performance Certificate Group. It contemplates a series of masterclasses by the faculty of Banff Centre's Summer Classical Music Program with select participants invited to join the Program, under the direction of the Gryphon Trio.

Thanks to the transformational gift from the Belzberg family in honour of Calgary-born community builder and philanthropist Mrs. Jenny Belzberg CM, AOE LLD, revitalization of Banff Centre's most important training and performing arts venue, the Eric Harvie Theatre began in November 2019 and is on schedule to be completed in fall 2020. It will reopen as the Jenny Belzberg Theatre in November 2020 and will welcome audiences back to performances, when it is safe to do so.

As Banff Centre continues through its strategic planning process which we look forward to completing in Q4 2020, we expressly thank the continued dedication of the Board of Governors, Foundation Board of Directors, supporters including the Government of Alberta and Government of Canada, philanthropic donors, staff, along with arts and leadership participants for enabling Banff Centre for Arts and Creativity to build on its extraordinary legacy.

Janice Price

President and CEO

Adam Waterous

ph Ant

Chair, Board of Governors

Operational Overview

In June 2016, Banff Centre for Arts and Creativity unveiled its five-year strategic plan, entitled *The Creative Voice*. The strategic plan was developed in response to several trends in the institutional environment – notably, recognition at all levels of government that arts and creativity are essential in the development of a diversified and innovative economy.

To this end, the strategic plan identified six priority initiatives, and Banff Centre's team has continued the ambitious journey in 2019/20 towards accomplishing these initiatives, as we complete the new strategic plan in December 2020.

Priority Initiative	Response to the following market trend	Progress in 2019/20
A commitment to advancing artistic learning	Artists and practitioners in Alberta and across Canada are seeking an immersive, hands-on learning environment where they can advance their artistic practice and build networks with other artists and practitioners. At the same time, the cultural and creative sectors are looking for artists and practitioners who are comfortable working in interdisciplinary settings and are able to apply their work in the expanding digital space.	Almost 1,500 artist learners (74% from Canada) came to campus as individuals, practicums, collaborative groups, and/or companies. They took part in more than 70 programs in the areas of dance, music, opera, theatre arts, literary arts, visual arts, digital media, Indigenous arts, and technical production. The training offered at Banff Centre was residency-based and each program provided students with access to rich facilities, expert faculty and mentors, time and space for transformative reflection, and artistic exploration.
Banff Centre as a cultural destination	Culture and tourism continue to be major, and growing, economic drivers for Alberta. Banff remains a key tourist destination for the province, and the Centre – attracting close to 43,000 audience members annually – has the potential of expanding arts and culture engagement to the Banff and Bow Valley tourism experience.	Total event attendance was over 46,000 in 2019/20. Banff Centre presented 92 concerts, presentations and events - in opera, dance, literary arts, visuals arts and indigenous arts. Specifically there were 14 family focused offerings; 43 Mountain Festival events; and 34 Banff Centre International String Quartet Competition (BISQC) and Festival events. The Centre hosted 4 dance performances, 9 National Indigenous Peoples Day events, 15 gallery events, 13 opera performances, 1 ballet performance and 46 arts and leadership programing presentations.

Priority Initiative	Response to the following market trend	Progress in 2019/20
A centre of excellence for Indigenous programs	The Truth and Reconciliation Commission (TRC) Final Report called on all public agencies – including post-secondary institutions – to play their part in the national movement towards reconciliation with Indigenous peoples. Banff Centre already has a 40+ year history of delivering impactful leadership capacity building programs in Indigenous communities throughout Canada, and a renowned reputation for Indigenous Arts programming.	Indigenous leadership and management programs offered a range of training opportunities with topics including: Strategic Planning, Negotiation Skills Training, Wise Practices, Leading Teams, Governance Project Management Business and Economic Development, Establishing and Evaluation Frameworks. A programmatic highlight was <i>Indigenous Writing and Digital Illustration</i> which took place in May and June, 2019. The program invited Indigenous authors and artists interested in children's literature to delve into new ways of storytelling using digital illustration techniques. Writers worked with Julie Flett, a Cree-Metis author, illustrator, and artist to explore technology and ways to lift their vividly imagined stories off the page.
A destination for creativity in leadership and conferences	As an institute of higher learning in leadership development, Banff Centre understands the need to identify and fill a unique niche in the crowded world of executive and leadership management offerings distinct from other post-secondary institutions. The province's annual operating grant remains a significant part of Banff Centre's revenues. However, given the ongoing economic pressures facing the province, there is a need to continue to deliver additional sources of revenue.	Indigenous leadership and management programs provided creative leaders with the knowledge and skills necessary to run effective organizations and build communities with sustainable economies. Banff Centre delivered 320 conferences that were attended by 24,640 delegates in 2019/20. Total revenue from this conference activity represented a slight decrease from 2018/19 due to the impact of COVID-19 in March 2020.
A creative home on sacred and protected land	Situated in the heart of the Rocky Mountains in Canada's first National Park, on Treaty 7 territory, there is a need to properly steward Banff Centre's 42-acre campus so that it serves learners, attracts global talent, and respects the sacred environment that it calls home.	Banff Centre renewed its commitment to Truth and Reconciliation by creating more dialogue between Indigenous and non-Indigenous Canadians. Banff Centre also focused on strengthening relationships with local organizations and the regional community. Opportunities have been pursued to collaborate with the local peoples through educational partnerships with the Cave and Basin National Historic Site and the Whyte Museum of the Canadian Rockies.

An adaptive and resilient With ongoing economic uncertainty, all Banff Centre advanced the three stated pilla	
Provincial public sector organizations are under more scrutiny to ensure that taxpayer and donor dollars are used wisely and efficiently while providing maximum impact to the broader community. Banff Centre sought to maintain and increase financial support to artists and to provide accessible/responsive artistic programming 2019/20. More than 60% of Banff Centre participants received financial support at an level of 50% of total program costs (program housing and meals). Banff Centre engaged a research consultant the opportunity to establish deeper applied research, summits, and think tanks to lead C arts and culture policy research, creation, an communication which would serve the creat industry. This research, along with the recently revises program evaluation model informed decision program content and design. Banff Centre maintained its responsiveness: relevance, 28% of Arts program offerings we either first-time pilots, or second time offerir. In line with the goal to increase sustainability funding through endowments, Banff Centre successfully applied to the Endowment Ince Component of the Canada Cultural Investment receiving a \$652,422 grant (66% match) level against \$988,345 in eligible private sector decision of the Canada Cultural Investment receiving a \$652,422 grant (66% match) level against \$988,345 in eligible private sector decision of the Canada Cultural Investment of the Canada Cultural In	luation, e its in average n fees, to study anadian d ive d ns on and ere gs. of ntives ent Fund eraged

Goals, Expected Outcomes and Performance Measures

Accessibility

Accessibility Goal #1
Seek to maintain, or increase if possible, scholarship levels for all learners with financial need.

Outcomes	Status	Performance Measures	Progress Made in Last 12 months
Adult learners are able to attend Banff Centre programs at current or increased levels.	Ongoing	Percentage of program participants receiving full or partial subsidy for their participation in both short and longer term programs maintained at current level of 60% or increased.	The percentage of participants receiving full or partial subsidy has been maintained at 60% across all Arts and Leadership Programming.
Enrolment is based on merit and not an ability to pay for those without financial resources, by providing financial support to practicums and participants (significantly subsidizing or completely covering the costs of tuition, housing, and meals).	Ongoing	On average, a participant scholarship covers a minimum of 50% of the total program cost (tuition, housing, and meals); 70% for Indigenous Leadership program participants; and 100% for Indigenous artists.	Participant scholarships have been maintained at 50% for Arts programming, 70% for Indigenous Leadership program participants and 100% for participants in Indigenous Arts programs.

Accessibility Goal #2 Banff Centre is a place for advanced-level, lifelong learning that is accessible to all qualified learners, including under-represented learners.

Outcomes	Status	Performance Measures	Progress Made in Last 12 months
An increased number of Indigenous Arts and Leadership participants benefit from programs and can contribute to the quality of life, social, cultural and economic well-being of Alberta and Canada.	Ongoing	Percentage of Indigenous Arts program offerings maintained at current level of 17% of total arts programs or increased. Percentage of Indigenous Leadership program offerings maintained at current level of 60% of total leadership programs or increased.	Indigenous Arts Program offerings accounted for 8.51% of total arts programs in 2019-20. Banff Centre offered six unique Indigenous arts programs in in 2019/20. This included 63 participants enrolled in one of the following programs: Terrance Houle Ghost Days; Making Art for Spirit, Animating Our Stories; Indigenous Writing and Digital Illustration; Intercultural Indigenous Choreography Creation Lab; Wichoîe Ahiya Indigenous Singer Songwriter Intensive; Mixed Media Arts 101; and Indigenous Storyteller and Spoken Word. Indigenous Leadership programs were maintained at 60% of current total leadership offerings. In April 2019, Leadership programming hosted an Indigenous Wisdom Gathering at Banff Centre. The event included forty-five Indigenous philosophers, academics, artists, and Elders who explored the opportunities and challenges of bringing Indigenous knowledge into the practice of advanced education. Participants not only engaged with content and discussion on campus, but they also spent a day learning on the land in Morley Alberta. Stoney Nakoda Elders shared stories, ceremonies and cultural activities with the group. In December 2019, Banff Centre hosted twenty Indigenous leaders. The allfemale cohort, created the foundations for a new Indigenous Women in Leadership program. The gathering was initiated by the question "What do Indigenous women need in order to thrive"? Attendees included entrepreneurs, social innovators, Elders government officials and
			discussion on campus, but they also spent a day learning on the land in Morle Alberta. Stoney Nakoda Elders shared stories, ceremonies and cultural activitie with the group. In December 2019, Banff Centre hoste twenty Indigenous leaders. The allfemale cohort, created the foundations for a new <i>Indigenous</i> Women in Leadership program. The gathering was initiated by the question "What do Indigenous women need in order to thrive"? Attendees included

Banff Centre is a place for advanced-level, lifelong learning that is accessible to all qualified learners, including under-represented learners.

Outcomes	Status	Performance Measures	Progress Made in Last 12 months
An increased number of works by differently abled artists receive exposure and recognition.	Ongoing	The number of performing and fine arts program options for differently-abled artists is maintained at current level or increased.	The number of performing arts program options and artists participating per discipline was maintained at the current level for differently-abled artists.
		The number of differently-abled artists participating in each artistic discipline	Examples of programs that included differently-abled artists/faculty included:
		is maintained at current level or increased.	Considering Access, the Banff International Curatorial Institute Symposium (August 21-24, 2019), explored methods for curators and institutions to rethink inherent (and inherited) structures through a model of coexistence, shared knowledge, collectivity, and engagement.
			The Solo Exhibition: Carmen Papalia Walter Phillips (June 8 - August 25, 2019). Born in Vancouver on unceded Coast Salish Territory, Carmen Papalia is a social practice artist and non-visual artist who creates participatory projects on the topic of access as it relates to public space, the art institution and visual culture.

Banff Centre's arts and leadership programs continue to serve the lifelong learning goals of Albertans and Canadians while often adding complementary value to the foundational skills taught by other post-secondary institutions within the system. The offerings create honed and practical competencies for continued development which are attuned to increased skills and successful careers over the short and long term.

Outcomes	Status	Performance Measures	Progress Made in Last 12 months
An increased number of practicum trained artists and leaders are prepared for entering the workforce.	Ongoing	Percentage of practicum training opportunities maintained at current level of 45 distinct programs or increased.	The percentage of practicum training opportunities was maintained at 45 distinct programs. In March 2020, Banff Centre was in the process of renovating its largest theatre and expanding its technical amenities to provide a better learning environment for participants. The renovation also included significant infrastructure improvements that will ensure participants are trained in a state-of-theart venue. The renovation was completed in November 2020.
Alberta-based artists receive training, mentoring, and other professional development opportunities from high-calibre faculty, together with other national and international artists. Note: references in this document to the increase in (and impact for) Alberta participants is directed to the requirements of the Government of Alberta. Banff Centre's mandate also focuses on benefiting participants from across Canada and the globe. Banff Centre's Annual Report and other documents should be referred to by readers to better understand the impact Banff Centre programming has on a national and global scale and its value in positioning Alberta as a strong and diverse province with a creative and innovative economy.	Ongoing	Percentage of Alberta artist enrolment increased from current level of 33% of Banff Centre's total overall enrolment. Full enrolment in every program measured by the number of actual: (1) Full-time Learning Equivalent (FLE) versus Banff Centre's FLE target (See Appendix B); and (2) enrolled participants versus Banff Centre's targeted enrolment projections. Percentage of programs with a ratio of high-caliber faculty to participants maintained at 1:10 or increased.	In 2019/20 the percentage of Alberta artist enrolment slightly decreased to 27% of Banff Centre's total overall enrolment. Due to program cancellations and enrolment reductions across all areas, Banff Centre recorded 393 FLE compared to a target of 433 FLE. Application to enrollment ratios for 2019/20 remained on par with 2018/19 at 5.6 applicants per place. The high-caliber faculty to participant's ratio was maintained at 1:10. Participant results and demographics: 2,400 registered participants in Arts and Leadership Programming were Canadian representing 81% of Banff Centre's total participant registrations.

Banff Centre's public events integrate art programming presentations, touring presentations, and Canadian performing arts companies, performances and festivals. These events expose audiences to new cultural experiences, accessible through a rich audience experience.

Outcomes	Status	Performance Measures	Progress Made in Last 12 months
Banff Centre's festival offerings attract increased numbers of visitors from the Bow Valley, the rest of Alberta, and around the world, broadening Albertan attendees' national and international exposure and contributing to the support and development of Alberta and Canada's knowledge and creative economy.	Ongoing	Percentage of free events at festivals, aimed at deepening engagement, maintained or increased. Attendance from Bow Valley residents and other Albertans is maintained or increased.	Demographics for % by location are based on box office data for all ticketed events. Banff Centre Mountain Film and Book Festival 2019 Attendance: 2,800 at 32 events *increase of 18% from 2018 Overall attendance based on tickets: Canada – AB 50.3 % Canada – BC 5.9% Canada – Other 2.7% Free Event Attendance: Increase of 18% from previous year Banff International String Quartet Competition 2019 Attendance (for package/passport holders): 2,000 at 7 events *increase of 4% from 2016 competition Attendance per region: Canada – AB 30.6% Canada – BC 15.3% Canada – Other 12.2% Total attendees: 9,943 Free Event Attendance: Increase of 14% from prior competition in 2016 Family Festival 2020 Attendance: 905 at 10 free events *Percentage increase of 39% for free events from 2019. All Family Festival events are free. Attendance per region:

Banff Centre's public events integrate art programming presentations, touring presentations, and Canadian performing arts companies, performances and festivals. These events expose audiences to new cultural experiences, accessible through a rich audience experience.

Outcomes	Status	Performance Measures	Progress Made in Last 12 months
Banff Centre's presenting program delivers a premiere series that engages current and new audiences by featuring artists' work, including Indigenous artists' work both created at Banff Centre and by touring artists.	Ongoing	Percentage of presenting program opportunities for residency-based and/or alumni performances maintained or increased. Percentage of Indigenous Arts performance opportunities maintained or increased.	Residency based presenting opportunities decreased by 17% with two International Singer Songwriter Showcases cancelled due to COVID-19. In Q4, Banff Centre presented internationally recognized and Quebec based singer-songwriter Martyn Joseph during the Singer-Songwriter program. Martyn led a workshop for participants from the music residency program. Indigenous Arts programming events increased by 15%. Events included visual arts open studios, spoken word, and singer songwriter performances. Indigenous Arts performance opportunities were maintained and included three musical performances as part of a month long National Indigenous People's Day celebration; Celeigh
			Cardinal (at Arts Place in Canmore), Leela Gilday (The Club) and ended with an Amphitheatre performance with Nunavut's iconic Susan Aglkark & internationally renowned Leela Gilday.

Accessibility Goal #5

Language is not a barrier to participants wishing to access Banff Centre's programming and events in either of Canada's official languages.

Outcomes	Status	Performance Measures	Progress Made in Last 12 months
Banff Centre plays a meaningful role in the learning and career development of French-speaking artists, arts technical practitioners, and leaders.	Ongoing	Percentage of Banff Centre Arts programs where applicants can apply in either of Canada's official languages maintained at current level of 100% through 2019-22. Percentage of Banff Centre Leadership programs where applicants can apply in either of Canada's official languages maintained at current level or increased to 100% through 2019-22.	All applicants to Arts and practicum programs are invited to submit their applications in either of Canada's official languages. Leadership and Indigenous Leadership programs are not translated into French.

Affordability

Affordability Goal #1

Cost is not a major barrier to the majority of participants wishing to access Banff Centre's Arts and Leadership programming.

Outcomes	Status	Performance Measures	Progress Made in Last 12 months
Banff Centre plays a meaningful role in the increased empowerment of leadership in the region's Indigenous communities.	Ongoing	Percentage of surveyed participants in Banff Centre Indigenous Leadership programs who rate them very high or excellent in terms of relevancy and quality of program content. Percentage of Indigenous participants enrolled in Banff Centre's residencies maintained at current level of 90% or increased.	Of 244 survey respondents 86% of them rated the overall quality of the program content as excellent or very good. Of 244 survey respondents 90% of them rated the overall relevance of their learning as excellent or very good. Participant enrollment in Banff Centre's residencies increased to 96.82% including: Arts enrollment at 98.68%; Practicum enrollment at 97.94%; and Leadership enrollment at 93.82%.
Increased attendance of Indigenous participants in Leadership and Arts programs is promoted through financial support and relevant programming. Programs with no financial barriers continue to be externally supported and widely accessible to Indigenous Arts participants.	Ongoing	Percentage of program participants receiving full or partial subsidy for their participation in both short and longer term programs maintained at current level of 60% or increased. On average, a participant scholarship covers a minimum of 50% of the total program cost (tuition, housing, and meals); 70% for Indigenous Leadership program participants; and 100% for Indigenous artists. Percentage of Indigenous Arts participants receiving a full scholarship covering all costs at Banff Centre (tuition, housing, and meals) maintained at current level of 100%. Diversity of revenue sources from across the public sector (federal, provincial) and private sector (individuals, corporations, foundations), including diversity of donor demographic groups, is maintained or increased.	Indigenous program participants receiving full or partial subsidy for their participation was maintained at the previous year's level of 60%. Participant scholarships were also maintained at the previous level of 50% for Arts Programming, and 100% for participants in Indigenous Arts programs. When an Indigenous artist enrolls in a program outside of Indigenous Arts, the scholarship parameters of the program apply. Individuals are asked, but not required to self-identify when they register. The diversity of revenue sources from the private and public sectors to support subsidies has been maintained.

Affordability Goal #1

Cost is not a major barrier to the majority of participants wishing to access Banff Centre's Arts and Leadership programming.

Outcomes	Status	Performance Measures	Progress Made in Last 12 months
As identified in Banff Centre's 2016-21 strategic plan, <i>The Creative Voice</i> , increased revenue assists in creating a more accessible, resilient, and sustainable organization.	Ongoing	Earned revenue from conferences/hospitality services is increased, making a significant contribution to Banff Centre's needs. Revenue raised from private sector sources (donations, sponsorships, and fundraising events) is increased, making a significant contribution to Banff Centre's needs. Contributions to Banff Centre's endowment for Arts and Leadership programming and scholarships is increased, making a significant contribution to Banff Centre's needs.	Banff Centre delivered 320 conferences that were attended by 24,640 delegates in 2019/20. Total revenue from this conference activity represented a slight decrease from 2018/19 due to the impact of COVID-19 in March 2020. Private sector revenues increased as a result of new donations, sponsorships and other grants. Contributions to Banff Centre's endowments increased by \$2.0 million to \$43.5 million at March 31, 2020 from \$41.5 million at March 31, 2019. The net increase in endowment net assets is attributable to new contributions and Government of Canada matching funds. In line with the goal to increase sustainability of funding through endowments, Banff Centre successfully applied to the Endowment Incentives Component of the Canada Cultural Investment Fund receiving a \$652,422 grant (66% match) leveraged against \$988,345 in eligible private sector donations. The total market value of Banff Centre's Endowment investment assets as of March 31, 2020 was \$49,227,192.17.

Quality

Quality Goal #1

Banff Centre is a recognized hub and resource for the Albertan Post-Secondary Institutions sector, the province of Alberta, and endorsed as a national and global leader in research, education, and facilitation to implement the Truth and Reconciliation Commission's (TRC's) Calls to Action.

Outcomes	Status	Performance Measures	Progress Made in Last 12 months
An increased regional and national awareness and provision of practical skills related to reconciliation. An increase in the number of private, non-profit, and public sector clients who participate in our facilitated sessions around the TRC's recommendations.	Ongoing	Percentage of surveyed participants or event attendees who rate Banff Centre's Truth and Reconciliation programs as very high or excellent in terms of relevancy and quality of program content.	A survey of participants from the <i>Truth</i> and <i>Reconciliation Through Right Relations</i> program indicated a 93% approval based on a high or excellent rating of the experience, quality, and relevancy of the program content. As a result of program cancelations due to COVID-19 March 2020, the <i>Truth and Reconciliation Through Right Relations</i> program saw a decrease in student numbers. A rescheduled <i>Truth and Reconciliation Through Right Relations Speaker Series</i> is being planned to engage the 26 participants that were unable to attend and to support the ongoing demand for this topic.
The understanding of all Albertans and Canadians is aligned regarding how the future can be shaped with a healthier national culture.	Ongoing	Participants in Banff Centre's facilitated sessions around TRC is increased in 2019-20 through 2020-21 and maintained at 2020-21 levels in 2021-22.	In 2019/20 there was an increased demand for custom programs related to Truth and Reconciliation. This included participation by philanthropists, corporations, provincial and federal government agencies. In 2020/2021, Banff Centre will offer Truth and Reconciliation programming will focus on to Banff Centre staff in an effort to continue and increase the impact of this work while adhering to COVID restrictions.
An increased use of Indigenous "wise practices" informs the pedagogy and learning process of non-Indigenous programming, providing a greater knowledge base for a national culture. Increased relevance and quality of program experiences for Indigenous participants in Indigenous Leadership programs, leading to positive change in communities and organizations.	Ongoing	Percentage of Banff Centre Indigenous Leadership programs incorporating content from the Wise Practice model maintained at current level of 72% or increased.	All of Banff Centre's Indigenous Leadership programs in 2019/20 incorporated content from the Wise Practices model. A recent survey of Indigenous Alumni indicated that 83% of those surveyed have applied aspects of what they learned in the Indigenous Leadership programs to their current work.

Quality Goal #2 Banff Centre's programming is recognized and measured for its quality at provincial, national, and international levels.

Outcomes	Status	Performance Measures	Progress Made in Last 12 months
A culture of evaluation, learning, and understanding of long term impact and relevance is imbedded across Banff Centre. The implementation of a new, effective evaluation mechanism provides feedback from program participants, and a basis for continual program improvement.	Ongoing	Percentage of Banff Centre's programs where the evaluation strategy launched in 2017 is being utilized for collecting and reporting data.	A total of 95% of programs contributed to the Banff Centre's program evaluation strategy.
Participants and alumni relationships are sustained and nurtured, contributing to improved programming and services for future artists and leaders.	Ongoing	Percentage of surveyed alumni who indicate satisfaction with Banff Centre's new online student registration and alumni portal system.	No percentage data was available for 2019/20 as Banff Centre's new online student registration and alumni portal system "Campus Cloud" was only launched in July 2020.
Alberta is recognized for its contributions to the success of adult learners and their role in the cultural and leadership industries through the achievements of Banff Centre participants and alumni. Monitoring and reporting on data/questionnaire results in subsequent annual reports will help guide Banff Centre in maintaining a consistency or increase in quality, employability, and other success measures for alumni.	Ongoing	Percentage of surveyed alumni who indicate that Banff Centre's alumni programs and services contribute to their alma mater pride, support their connections with other alumni, and enhance their professional outcomes.	In 2019/20 Banff Centre hosted a series of alumni consultations that gathered additional data on alumni experience and success. These took place across Canada including in Victoria, Winnipeg, Montreal, Halifax, Edmonton, Whitehorse, and Banff. The objective of the consultations was to gather in-person input and feedback from Banff Centre's alumni to validate and inform a robust Alumni Relations program for the Centre. The alumni feedback from the consultations was grouped into seven key priorities: Alumni engagement; Alumni benefits; Emerging artist support; Mentoring opportunities; Alumni chapters; Giving back; and Building a community. Consultation participants also noted and celebrated the successes of their fellow Banff Centre alumni in 2019/20 including (but not limited to): Ian Williams receiving the 2019 Scotia Bank Giller Prize; Nicolas Grenier winning the 2019 Sobey Art Award; Maiko Yamamoto awarded the 2019 Siminovitch Prize for Theatre; and Esperanza Spalding winning a Grammy.
Banff Centre's theatre and other performing arts programming contributes to the employability of participants by providing a relevant learning experience. Audiences are engaging with cutting edge artistic performance.	Ongoing	Percentage of surveyed theatre program alumni who indicate that Banff Centre's theatre programs are very good or excellent in terms of relevancy and quality of program content.	Of the 106 alumni survey respondents, 89% rated the overall quality of the theatre program as excellent or very good. Of the 106 alumni survey respondents 92% rated the overall relevance of their learning in the theatre program excellent or good.

Quality Goal #3

Banff Centre contributes to a diversified economy by responding to new and emerging digital and media technologies.

Outcomes	Status	Performance Measures	Progress Made in Last 12 months
Opportunities for artists and leaders to integrate emerging technologies into their work are increased by offering more digitally-inspired programming	Ongoing	Percentage of dedicated digital media program and practicum offerings maintained at current level of 24% of total practicum offerings, or increased by 10%.	Banff Centre's digital media program and practicum programs saw a slight increase in program and practicum offerings of 27% in 2019/20. The increase was attributed to the <i>Banff Centre Digital Media Summit</i> held in November 2019.
			The Summit gathered a unique combination of artists, arts organization leaders, researchers, technologists, policymakers, and funders to discuss digital advancement and other topics. Almost 150 artists/delegates and 35 speakers and panelists attended including: artist (34%), organizational leader (30%), researcher (20%), technologist (8%), funder (3%) and policymaker (2%). The Summit was live streamed, and screened in 7 remote sites ('viewing parties') across the country. Sites included host organizations in Newfoundland, Fredericton, Montreal, Toronto, North Bay, Whitehorse and Squamish.

Quality Goal #4

Banff Centre assesses gaps in learning opportunities for artists and leaders. By often adding complementary value to the foundational skills taught by other post-secondary institutions within the system, Banff Centre responds with relevant, high-quality programming reflecting the life-cycle needs of artists and leaders.

Outcomes	Status	Performance Measures	Progress Made in Last 12 months
The quality of life and employability of Albertans and Canadians remains supported throughout the period of suspension of funding from the Government of Alberta for the Peter Lougheed Leadership Initiative (PLLI) and following the resumption of the funding in 2020-21.	Ongoing	Full enrolment in Banff Centre's suite of Leadership programs as indicated by meeting the leadership component of Banff Centre's FLE target.	In total 438 leaders took part in 19 Leadership programs in 2019/20 as a result of successful recruitment campaigns and on-going feedback. Percentage of total FLE's in Leadership programming was 9% in 2019/20 which met Banff Centre's FLE target for this component.

Quality Goal #4

Banff Centre assesses gaps in learning opportunities for artists and leaders. By often adding complementary value to the foundational skills taught by other post-secondary institutions within the system, Banff Centre responds with relevant, high-quality programming reflecting the life-cycle needs of artists and leaders.

Outcomes	Status	Performance Measures	Progress Made in Last 12 months
Renewed program relevancy in creative industry and media arts programming assists in supporting these industries and their economic well-being in Alberta and Canada.	Ongoing	Maintain the number of practicum positions (between 25%-30% of FLE total).	The number of practicum positions was maintained at 27.5 % of the previous years' FLE total. Ranging from several weeks to almost a year in duration, the span of practicum
 Increase the number of practicum positions. Develop a new, industry-relevant pedagogical model for the practicum program. 			offerings included a range of art forms and technical activities. Banff Centre's practicum program participants receive instruction, practical application and access to equipment and resources. The programs provide mentorship and
Increased access to technology on campus, including virtual reality and other industry-standard, industry-relevant equipment enables the Centre to play a more significant information sharing role in Alberta's post-secondary sector and help position the province as strong and diverse with a creative and innovative economy.			supervision that contributes to not only an outstanding work and study experience but prepare participants for jobs in the cultural sector. Participants also have the opportunity to make lasting industry connections by networking with their peers, interacting with students attending other programs, and the many world-class artists that are on campus to perform and/or teach.
Infrastructure and physical resources are improved and revitalized, providing state-of-the-art learning and performance centered facilities focused on best serving Albertan and Canadian Arts and Leadership participants and audiences.	Ongoing	Material progress towards the revitalization of major parts of Banff Centre's campus, including the Performance and Learning Complex, which is the number one priority in the Centre's capital plan. Rejuvenation and enhancement of the Eric Harvie Theatre audience seating area by fall 2020.	Construction on the Performing Arts and Learning Complex, including the rejuvenation of the Eric Harvie Theatre and HVAC upgrades throughout the facility, began in November 2019 and was completed in November 2020.
Opportunities to perform contribute to participants' employability and provide greater learning opportunities for participants and audiences. Banff Centre's evaluation model measures the relevance and employability of participants within the programs.		Percentage of applicants to Banff Centre's classical music programming maintained at current application to enrolment ratio of 5:1 in 2020 (through transition in artistic leadership to Canada's Gryphon Trio) and increased through 2021-22.	In 2019/20 application to budgeted enrollment ratio was maintained at 5:1. However, these programs were ultimately cancelled due to COVID-19.

Quality Goal #5

As a Canadian centre of excellence in creativity and the arts, Banff Centre is uniquely positioned to play a pivotal role in bridging the current cultural policy gaps and strengthen the ecosystem of public discourse, innovation, and policy study of arts and culture.

Outcomes	Status	Performance Measures	Progress Made in Last 12 months
Research drives informed decision making and understanding regarding the role and value of arts and culture. Program relevancy is strengthened to better serve the creative industries and their economic well-being in Alberta and Canada.	Ongoing	Material progress towards assessing the feasibility of Banff Centre's continued involvement in this work by fall 2020.	A research feasibility report was delivered to Banff Centre in November 2019. The findings are being explored in the context of new funding formula from the province, the impact of the pandemic, and the new strategic planning cycle (Fall 2020).

Coordination

Coordination Goal #1

Banff Centre continues to partner with other members of Alberta's adult learning system to increase its efficiency and effectiveness in serving its learners.

Outcomes	Status	Performance Measures	Progress Made in Last 12 months
Knowledge gained from joint applied-research initiatives strengthens post-secondary curricula in targeted disciplines across the adult learning system in Alberta.	Ongoing	Cultivate additional partnerships with post-secondary institutions in Alberta throughout 2019-22	Banff Centre explored an initiative with the University of Calgary regarding the Banff Centre Press in 2019/20. The recommendations included centralizing operations and becoming an imprint of the University of Calgary Press. This would allow Banff Centre to continue publishing content, but benefit from the operations and distribution channels of a larger Press. These conversations were put on hold as each institution responded to new funding constraints from the Provincial Government. Banff Centre's Indigenous Leadership staff/faculty partnered with the University of Calgary to design and deliver the Indigenous Wisdom Thought Leadership Forum. A cohort of 50 Indigenous scholars gathered to discuss how to authentically centre Indigenous Wisdom into university curriculum development. Banff Centre discussions with Mount Royal University to consider partnering in the delivery of a master class and classical music programming.
Banff Centre's programs are designed and delivered with minimal to no overlap or competition with public sector and other post-secondary programs.	Ongoing	Material progress towards achieving a reduction in overlap with public sector and other post-secondary programs	Banff undertook an extensive review continued of its program plan and strategic, mission realignment, set to take place in 2020/21. A formal theatre program review in 2019/20 resulted in recommendations to maintain the uniqueness of Banff Centre's performing arts programming. Faculty surveys included prompts to identify potential duplication with other programs worldwide, resulting in changes to program design. Indigenous Leadership programs have a unique design signature centered within Indigenous Wisdom pedagogy.

Coordination Goal #1

Banff Centre continues to partner with other members of Alberta's adult learning system to increase its efficiency and effectiveness in serving its learners.

Outcomes	Status	Performance Measures	Progress Made in Last 12 months
Costs and security risks to Banff Centre's Information Technology (IT) infrastructure are reduced through the Centre's ongoing IT partnerships within Alberta's post-secondary system.	Ongoing	Demonstrated cost savings from End User Computing Hardware agreement. Reduced cost for security assessment when comparing ShareIT proposal and other vendors.	In 2019/20 Banff Centre purchased desktop and laptop computers through this agreement which resulted in savings. Banff Centre's 2019/20 information security vulnerability assessment was completed by the recommended vendor, resulting in savings of more than 50% from the prior year.
Banff Centre access to top tier security services at a reduced cost.	Ongoing	Reduced cost for key information security services (e.g., Security Information and Event Management (SIEM).	Banff Centre leveraged the Government of Alberta information security partnership to establish a SIEM for Banff Centre at a significant savings compared to quotes received by Banff Centre. This contract was terminated in May 2020 during the COVID-19 pandemic due to costs in excess of value received. Banff Centre is partnering with provincial and national post-secondary's through Cybera and Canarie. Banff Centre is evaluating initiatives including the national Security Information and Event Management project which may be a better fit

Coordination Goal #2

Establish collaborative, project- based relationships with other post-secondary institutions to create new opportunities for learning in Alberta, identifying both opportunities and efficiencies within the overall Campus Alberta system.

Outcomes	Status	Performance Measures	Progress Made in Last 12 months
Cost is shared between participating institutions. Access to a senior security resource to enhance both the strategic and tactical direction of Banff Centre's security program.	Ongoing	Decision made on whether or not to engage a shared CISO with other partners.	Banff Centre has not participated in the shared CISO program due to budget and human resource capacity constraints.
Partnering organizations learn from one another and develop complementary offerings.	Ongoing	Cultivate additional partnerships with post-secondary institutions in Alberta throughout 2019-	In 2019/20, Banff Centre partnered with the University of Calgary (U of C) to design and deliver the <i>Indigenous Wisdom Thought Leadership Forum</i> . The Forum included fifty Indigenous scholars who discussed how to authentically incorporate Indigenous Wisdom into the development of university curriculum. Banff Centre is also considering collaborating with U of C to publish content.
			Banff Centre also worked with Mount Royal University in 2019/20 on the development of a program in support of its Advanced Performance Certificate Group. The program would include a series of masterclasses by the faculty of Banff Centre's Summer Classical Music Program with select participants invited to join the Program, under the direction of the Gryphon Trio.

Government Priorities

Outcomes	Status	Progress Made in Last 12 months										
Commitment to Sexual Violence Protection and Student Mental Health	Ongoing	Banff Centre's programs and initiatives will continue to focus on increasing awareness of sexual violence and harassment issues, reducing stigma surrounding the reporting of sexual violence, and ensuring a supported experience on campus for those who are impacted. First Responder to Sexual Assault and Abuse Training will continue to be provided periodically by the Association of Alberta Sexual Assault Services. Staff across campus have already received this training. Information will be provided during student and staff orientation, and training on prevention and Banff Centre's policy will continue to be offered quarterly.										
												Banff Centre has established a Steering Committee to develop a comprehensive strategy on Mental Health, consisting of eleven members from across the organization. The strategy will provide a roadmap for supporting mental health and wellness, and encourage a supportive, health and inclusive campus.
		Banff Centre's programs and training will supplement one-on-one appointments, provide tools for self-management, focus on inclusivity and stigma reduction, and ensure awareness of both on campus and community services that are available for emergency and crisis management.										
		"Practicum Think Tanks" supporting student wellness and success will be integrated into intensive learning programs. Regular workshops and learning sessions will continue for participants and staff on preventative mental health and wellness strategies, including Mental Health First Aid training.										
		Banff Centre's campus-wide working group consisting of Indigenous and non- Indigenous staff and practicum students will continue to meet regularly and discuss various issues including mental health and well-being.										
		The National College Health Assessment survey will be sent to Banff Centre program participants and alumni who attended programming in the previous 12 months. The survey results will help inform future program and training development.										

Financial and Budget Information

Banff Centre establishes operating and capital budgets each year. Both budgets are presented to Banff Centre's Board of Governors for approval and monitored by management on a monthly basis, with appropriate action taken to respond to budget variances.

The Management Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) included in this section of the Annual Report should be read in conjunction with Banff Centre's annual audited consolidated financial statements and accompanying footnotes, which are reviewed and approved by the Board and are included in this Annual Report. Banff Centre's consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Public Sector Accounting Standards (PSAS) and are expressed in Canadian dollars.

The MD&A included in this section of the Annual Report provides an overview of the results Banff Centre achieved in the year ended March 31, 2020 with a discussion and analysis of:

- Results Compared to Prior Year
- Results Compared to Budget
- Cash Flows
- Financial Position

Further details on the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic are also provided at the end of this section.

Results Compared to Prior Year

Total revenue decreased for the year ended March 31, 2020 to \$70.2 million from \$72.0 million in the previous year. The following table includes the composition of Banff Centre's total revenue for the year ended March 31, 2020 with comparative information for March 31, 2019.

Consolidated Revenue (\$000)	2020	2019
Government of Alberta grants	\$ 19,930	\$ 21,776
Federal and other government grants	3,036	2,628
Sales, rentals and services	30,987	31,709
Tuition and related fees	2,827	2,893
Donations and other grants	6,456	6,182
Investment earnings	3,275	2,999
Amortization of deferred expended capital contributions	3,670	3,835
Total Revenue	\$ 70,181	\$ 72,022

The most significant changes in revenues for the year ended March 31, 2020 compared to March 31, 2019 are explained below:

- Government of Alberta grants: decreases of \$0.3 million from the base operating grant, \$1.3 million from utilization of Infrastructure Maintenance Program ("IMP") funding and \$0.2 million from utilized leadership programming funding of prior years.
- Net increase in Federal and other government grants due primarily to one-time funding from Canada Council in 2020.
- Decrease in revenue from sales, rentals and services due to decreased revenue from conferences, performance fees and facility rentals related to COVID-19.

- Increase in donations and other grants primarily due to increased sponsorships.
- Investment earnings increase of \$0.3 million due to increased utilization of accumulated investment earnings from endowments.

Total expenses increased for the year ended March 31, 2020 to \$71.4 from \$71.2 million in fiscal 2019. The following table includes the composition of Banff Centre's total expenses for the year ended March 31, 2020 with comparative information for March 31, 2019.

Consolidated Expense (\$000)	2020	2019
Salaries, wages and benefits	40,506	38,296
Purchased services	5,431	6,092
Materials, goods and supplies	4,675	4,668
Scholarships and financial assistance	3,854	3,900
Facility operations and maintenance	2,753	3,505
Utilities	1,815	1,716
Travel, training and related costs	2,188	2,178
Rentals and equipment	1,996	2,539
Marketing and recruitment	1,226	1,303
Financial costs	1,068	1,013
Amortization of capital assets	5,852	6,037
Total Expense	\$ 71,364	\$ 71,247

The most significant changes in expenses for the year ended March 31, 2020 compared to March 31, 2019 are explained below:

- \$2.2 million increase in salaries, wages and benefits due primarily to new positions to support programming and operations, pay increases in accordance with the Collective Agreement executed in June 2019 between Banff Centre and The Canadian Union of Public Employees ("CUPE") and severance accruals.
- \$0.7 million decrease in purchased services due primarily to reduced discretionary spending.
- \$0.8 million decrease in facility operations and maintenance and \$0.5 million in rentals and equipment from reduced IMP spending.

Results Compared to Budget

A budgeted operating surplus of \$40 thousand for the year ended March 31, 2020 was approved by the Board of Governors. Revenues were \$5.2 million less than the budget and expenses were \$4.0 million less than budget, resulting in an actual operating deficit of \$1.2 million.

The most significant variances from budgeted revenues are explained below:

- Government of Alberta grants were \$2.3 million below budget due to reductions of \$0.3 million from the base operating grant, \$1.7 million from utilization of IMP funding, \$0.2 million from utilized leadership programming funding of prior years and \$0.1 million, net, from other items.
- Federal and other government grants exceeded budget by \$0.4 million due to one-time funding from Canada Council in 2020.
- Sales, rentals and services were \$2.0 million below budget due to a \$2.2 million shortfall in accommodation, food and beverage revenue, primarily attributable to COVID-19, offset by a \$0.2 million positive variance in performance fees and facility rentals.

- Tuition and related fees fell short of budget by \$0.5 million. Reduced expense for scholarships and financial assistance partially offset the budget shortfall, as indicated below.
- Donations and other grants were \$1.0 million less than budget, which is linked to the weak Alberta economy.

The most significant variances from budgeted expenses include:

- Salaries, wages and benefits were \$1.0 million above budget due to pay increases in accordance with the Collective Agreement executed in June 2019 between Banff Centre and CUPE and severance accruals.
- Purchase services were \$0.7 million below budget due to reduced discretionary spending.
- Materials, goods and supplies were \$0.9 million below budget due to reduced accommodation, food and beverage revenue.
- Scholarships and financial assistance fell short of budget by \$0.5 million, which is linked to the tuition variance explained above.
- Facility operations and maintenance and rentals and equipment were \$2.2 million below budget (combined), attributable to reduced spending of \$1.7 million on IMP funded projects and \$0.5 million of other reductions
- Marketing and recruitment expenses were \$0.4 million below budget due to reduced discretionary spending.

Cash Flows

Cash and cash equivalents decreased by \$0.9 million for the year ended March 31, 2020 due to cash used in operating and capital transactions exceeding cash provided from financing and investing transactions. Additional commentary is provided below:

- The cash flows from operating transactions were negatively impacted by the current year's operating
 deficit, the reduction in unearned revenue and deposits attributable to COVID-19 and the drawdown of
 deferred contributions from prior years.
- Cash applied to capital expenditures was primarily attributable to IMP projects, Theatre renovations and Information Technology projects.
- Investing and financing transactions generated cash flows of \$1.4 million and \$5.4 million of cash, respectively.

Financial Position

Banff Centre's net asset balance at March 31, 2020 totaled \$59.2 million, an increase of \$0.8 million for the fiscal year. The net asset balance is reported in two major categories, accumulated operating surplus and net assets restricted for endowment purposes.

The accumulated operating surplus decreased by \$1.2 million for the year ended March \$1, 2020, to \$15.8 million, from \$17.0 million in fiscal \$2018/19. When Banff Centre's estimated share of the Universities Academic Pension Plan unfunded liability of \$2.0 million (\$2019 - \$2.0 million) is excluded, the unrestricted balance of accumulated operating surplus is \$17.8 million (\$2019 - \$19.0 million). The unrestricted accumulated operating surplus at March \$1, 2020 includes investment in capital assets of \$18.6 million (\$2019 - \$19.1 million). The unrestricted accumulated operating deficit excluding the investment in capital assets at March \$1, 2020 is \$0.8 million (\$2019 - \$0.1 million).

Net assets restricted for endowment purposes increased by \$2.0 to \$43.5 million at March 31, 2020 from \$41.5 million at March 31, 2019. The net increase in endowment net assets is attributable to new contributions and matching funds.

Impact of COVID-19 Pandemic

In 2020, like many arts and cultural organizations, as well as post-secondary institutions, Banff Centre has been deeply impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic. Further details of the impact and timelines are provided below:

- Conferences/Hospitality is Banff Centre's largest institutional own source revenue contributing to the delivery of programs for participants in Banff Centre arts, leadership and practicum training. This revenue typically represents over 35% of Banff Centre's operating budget.
- The impact of the COVID-19 crisis has resulted in a complete erosion of this own-source revenue contribution for Banff Centre. Every scheduled conference since March 8, 2020 has cancelled.
- As of March 16, 2020, Banff Centre suspended all courses in session and coordinated an early exit of
 participants and faculty from campus. As well, Banff Centre cancelled all programs and public events.
 Banff Centre also took the action to recall members of Banff Centre's Mountain Film Festival World Tour
 team, involving the cancellation of approximately 120 screenings in Canada/USA, and also a significant
 own-source revenue contributor to operations.
- Banff Centre typically fund raises between \$6-8 million a year from corporate and philanthropic sources.
 Many of those donors are in the Energy and Transportation sectors of the economy which are being hit dramatically by the current crisis.
- After considerable analysis and planning by Banff Centre's senior management team, on March 19, 2020 over 400 employees were temporarily laid off, representing 75% of Banff Centre's workforce.
- Social distancing and gathering restrictions make it difficult, and in some cases prohibitive, for Banff Centre to re-open the campus for normal course delivery and conference activity at this time.
- In September 2020, Banff Centre's Arts and Leadership programs began to offer courses and events for online delivery until December 31, 2020. From January to March 2021, Banff Centre is intending to open up some artist residencies, with the intention of in person classes re-opening gradually through the spring of 2021.
- Banff Centre presented the annual Banff International String Quartet Festival online in September and will also be presenting the Banff Centre Mountain Film and Book Festival online in the fall.
- With limited programmatic and conference activity for the remainder of the year, it was with regret that Banff Centre made the difficult decision to permanently layoff 284 people effective June 11, 2020. Banff Centre asked 100 people to remain on temporary layoff, and 123 people to remain on staff. Rather than waiting until September to make this staffing decision, Banff Centre wanted to provide clarity to all staff, and to make the decision to allow those being placed on permanent layoff to move on in their careers.
- Banff Centre continues to adapt, often in real time, to the fallout of the COVID-19 pandemic, including restrictions on activities, to support the health of our communities and changes in consumer confidence.

The duration and impact of COVID-19 are unknown at this time and it is not possible to reliably estimate the impact that the length and severity of these developments will have on the valuation of investments and Banff Centre's operations in future periods.

Self-Generated Revenue

In accordance with the *Self-Generated Revenue Policy for Public Post-Secondary Institutions*, institutional self-generated revenue enterprises can be categorized as follows:

- Auxiliary/Ancillary Services: An auxiliary or ancillary enterprise furnishes a service to students, faculty, or staff, and charges a fee at a minimum of cost recovery to ensure the cost is not subsidized by other sources such as government grants. The public may be served incidentally by some auxiliary/ancillary enterprises including bookstores, student residences, parking lots, institutional catering services and
- Academic Enterprises: The activity is deemed to be an integral part of the post-secondary institution's
 educational, research, public service and campus support functions, as well as other educational and
 support activities. Profit is not the primary motivator. Examples are continuing education, culinary school
 restaurants, agricultural operations and breweries.
- Commercial Enterprises: The activity or enterprise is outside an institution's primary education and research mandate and exists for the purpose of revenue generation. The institution's domestic students, faculty and staff are not directly served by, nor do they derive direct benefit from, the activity or enterprise. Examples are commercial land development, real-estate deals and overseas campuses.

Banff Centre engages in significant self-generated revenue activities as follows:

Auxiliary/Ancillary Services

(all for Arts and Leadership participants, conference guests and the general public):

- Hotels/residences and related conference services,
- Food services,
- Sally Borden Fitness and Recreation, and
- Staff housing.

Academic Enterprises:

- Banff Centre Mountain Film and Book Festival,
- Banff International String Quartet Competition, and
- All other Banff Centre performances.

Commercial Enterprises:

• None.

The annual revenue and profit before allocation of amortization and overhead (in thousands of dollars) for each category are provided in the table below for the year ended March 31, 2020:

	Auxiliary/Ancillary Services	Academic Enterprises	
Annual revenue before amortization	\$25,752	\$5,123	
Profit before allocated amortization and overhead	\$5,099	\$693	

Research, Applied Research, and Scholarly Activities

Banff Centre has made progress on the following research and applied research initiatives:

Applied Research in the Arts

Research for the Advancement of Culture, Arts, and Leadership

As Canada's largest post-graduate multi-disciplinary arts and leadership development institution, Banff Centre is uniquely positioned to play a pivotal role in convening cultural leaders to explore the issues facing Canada and the world.

Banff Centre has been seeking opportunities to host research gatherings, summits, and think-tanks that would contribute to Canadian arts and culture policy research, creation, and communication. These initiatives will serve the national creative industries and ensure relevance to the employees, employers, and entrepreneurs throughout the sector. Anticipated results are that Alberta and Canada will be strengthened, by highlighting the vitality of Canada's culture globally and connecting Canadians with the world through creative entrepreneurship.

In 2019, Banff Centre commissioned a report to assist in developing its approach to research. It was a significant step toward developing a renewed core function for Banff Centre that builds on the strengths of the past and the context in which it currently operates.

Success in implementing this initiative will rely on integrating research and evaluation into institutional strategy, among other actions.

As Banff Centre completes its new strategic plan for 2021 and beyond, research and evaluation activities will be integrated at all stages of the process, including:

- Articulating how research informs or supports Banff Centre's mandate in the current context;
- Environmental scanning and data to contribute to leadership's understanding of trends, risks and responses;
- Setting objectives and program directions in response to demonstrated needs and previous evaluation results; and
- Assessing, allocating and seeking resources.

In some cases, research may be needed to demonstrate need or demand for a program or service; in others, new revenue streams could be secured to support research partnerships.

The report outlined a three phased approach over two years. Each phase builds on the next, and will require progressively increased resources.

Due to the impacts COVID19 on operational resources and capacity, the project has been partially put on hold and is pivoting toward emphasizing evaluation, exploration and learning as a framework for developing a revised approach.

Regional Stewardship, Foundational Learning, Underrepresented Learners

Banff Centre's vision is to showcase Alberta as a cultural leader and to create a cultural destination for the province, country, and world. This will be achieved while building intrinsic value to the Bow Valley through community relationships, loyalty, and connection.

Banff Centre for Arts and Creativity takes the Truth and Reconciliation Commission's Calls to Action seriously. The Centre's vision is to create a space for Indigenous practices that are embedded and included across artistic disciplines, adhering to the underlying principles in the Calls to Action. This vision also includes supporting audience engagement and reflection on Indigenous issues that are culturally sensitive.

In 2019, Banff Centre commissioned a report from Ry Moran, Associate University Librarian-Reconciliation at the University of Victoria and former Director of the Centre for Truth and Reconciliation. The goal was to recommend a framework that allows for consideration/application of Indigenous knowledges and beliefs in a variety of activities undertaken by Banff Centre.

What follows is an excerpt from the Executive Summary:

Banff Centre for Arts and Creativity, with its goal to act as Canada's resource for the advancement of arts, culture and leadership, has long embraced a process of recognition of Indigenous peoples, art and leadership.

Over recent years, and especially since the release of the Truth and Reconciliation Commission's Calls to Action, the pace and expectation for change has dramatically increased across the country. Post-Secondary institutions, public agencies and cultural organizations are making efforts to recognize and implement new relationships with Indigenous peoples' histories, cultures, rights, realities and needs. Banff Centre is part of this overall shift.

Just like many institutions however, implementing reconciliation initiatives has not always proved to be a straight line for Banff Centre. Staffing, budgets, leadership, direction and implementation of results are all challenged by the call to rectify past historical wrongs and to end the ongoing manifestations of these wrongs in today's society. That said, since 2015, a significant amount of work has gone on at Banff Centre and this report marks yet another evolution in Banff Centre's journey towards reconciliation.

This report places particular emphasis on contextualizing what was heard during the course of the interviews with key staff and other informants. It is intended to be an educational tool and a series of recommendations.

Of the main themes that were heard, the need for an overall plan and strategy emerged most clearly. Second most was an opportunity to move into deeper relationship with the land and sense of place. Training to improve overall culture also emerged as did the need to foster and deepen relationships with local, regional and national communities.

Due to the impacts of COVID-19 on operational resources and capacity, the evaluation of the recommendations of the Report has been put on hold. During this unprecedented time, the Programming Team at Banff Centre has been committed to a customized delivery of the *Truth and Reconciliation Right Relations* program that was developed in 2016.

Underrepresented Learners

Banff Centre is committed to ensuring that a range of learners, regardless of socio-economic status, ethnicity, language, gender, sexual identity, etc., have access to its programs. In addition to enhanced programming specifically designed to meet the needs of Indigenous artists and leaders, Banff Centre ensured:

- scholarships were available (60-70% of all Arts and Leadership program participants receive full or partial subsidies) to help offset program fees;
- 100% of Indigenous Arts program participants and over 65% of Indigenous Leadership program participants received full or partial subsidies to help offset program fees;
- program options were designed for differently-abled artists, and to reduce language barriers;
- a more diversified summer Music faculty that included 50% people of colour compared to 35% the previous year. To reflect the evolution of the genre, half of the music commissions were by prominent Black artists including: George Lewis, Matana Roberts, Mazz Swift, and Tyshawn Sorey;
- all Indigenous Leadership programs were led by an Indigenous faculty team;
- life-long learning was encouraged through free and open access community programming;
- residents of the Bow Valley and surrounding area were welcomed to campus and encouraged to participate in programs, attend events, access training and performance facilities, etc.; and
- residents of the Bow Valley received a special tuition discount to attend Leadership programs, including Indigenous Leadership programming. This extended to Morley Alberta, and has substantially increased the program attendance from this demographic (over the last 4 years).

Internationalization

A strong global perspective is absolutely critical to ensuring the high level of quality and relevance in the training of artists and leaders. Many of Banff Centre's participants come from outside Canada, bringing with them best practices and ideas, and sharing those experiences with their learning cohorts. Visiting international artists and leaders consistently highlight and praise the knowledge and learning that they receive from their Canadian colleagues. Importantly, this international presence provides program participants with an opportunity to build and take advantage of a professional network that spans the globe. Over time, this has also served to highlight Alberta as a global top-tier cultural and tourism destination.

In accordance with its mandate, and in addition to Banff Centre's continued encouragement of international applicants to apply to its open enrolment programs, the Centre continues to attract participants through its formal international funding partnerships which currently include, among others: BMUKK Federal Ministry for Education (Austria); Creative New Zealand (Indigenous artists); Ministry of Culture (Colombia); Instituto Tomie Ohtake (Brazil); Fondo Nacional para la Cultura y las Artes (FONCA, Mexico); the French Consulate; PEW Foundation (USA); Schubert and Modern Music Competition (Austria); English Speaking Union (UK); Arthur L. Carter Journalism Institute at NYU (USA); Wigmore Hall String Quartet Competition (UK); and, Alberta's new sister province of Guangdong, China. Additional agreements are currently in development with prospective partners in South Korea, Argentina, and France.

Capital Plan

Banff Centre is a globally respected arts, cultural, and educational institution and conference facility. Providing a unique creative and learning experience, Banff Centre curates innovative programs that develop artists and leaders, inspiring them to conceive and produce powerful work and ideas that are shared with the world. Banff Centre's capital facilities and equipment are critical to supporting and enabling the optimal learning experience for arts, leadership, and conference participants.

Deferred Maintenance

Due to the age of the buildings on campus, the cost of deferred maintenance on existing facilities, other than those recently renovated, continues to grow. In addition to the growing deferred maintenance burden, numerous areas around campus need to be modernized and upgraded to meet the programming needs of artists, leaders and faculty.

The recent grants received of \$2.6 million for the Theatre Complex HVAC Refurbishment and \$2.4 million for the Theatre and Trans Canada Pipeline Buildings Roof Replacement and Glyde Hall Siding Replacement provided much needed funding for these projects, and the return of IMP funding in 2020/21 after suspension in 2019/20 is providing some relief in other areas. Even with recent grants and continued IMP, available infrastructure funding does not meet all of Banff Centre's deferred maintenance requirements, so project prioritization is carefully scrutinized during the annual capital planning process.

The following are high-level examples of repairs, upgrades, and replacements needed for a range of residential and training facilities within Banff Centre's deferred maintenance projects:

- essential interior upgrades and flooring replacement;
- fire and safety deficiencies and current code compliance required upgrades;
- barrier-free accessibility on campus;
- emergency and exit lighting replacement, and other critical electrical components;
- technological infrastructure deficiencies;
- elevator repair and replacement program;
- essential repairs to staff housing;
- replace essential equipment for film, media, theatre, music, visual arts, recreational facilities, guestrooms, and food and beverage services; and,
- replace and upgrade HVAC components, including pumps, motor, and controls.

Debt Financing for IT Requirements and Essential Equipment

As part of its strategic planning process in 2015-16, Banff Centre reviewed its information technology and essential equipment requirements, both of which have no identified sources of funding. The plan adopted requires bank financing through a revolving lease facility up to \$10 million, for which approval was received from the Ministry of Alberta Advanced Education in 2016-17. Since then, the lease facility has been utilized to fund capital expenditures.

Priority Projects

The following facilities projects require significant rehabilitation and upgrades, and have been identified as part of a broader campus master plan. In order to meet institutional goals, all of the projects would ideally be completed within ten years, pending appropriate levels of provincial, federal, and private sector investment. These facilities are integral to Banff Centre's programming and enrolment plans. The ongoing deficiencies and safety issues associated with these facilities are detailed in Alberta Infrastructure's Building and Land Information Management System (BLIMS).

Priority 1:

Performing Arts and Learning Complex Phase 1 - Preservation and New Construction

Project estimate: \$47 Million

Additional capacity: New 350-400 seat theatre with state-of-the-art digital projection capacity, enlarged and renovated classrooms, new dance workshop spaces; renovation and revitalization of the Eric Harvie Theatre facility; enlarged lobby area for both theatre venues with new finishes and lighting to improve audience services and flow; relocated washrooms; and additional space for public art presentations and hospitality operations.

Expected completion date: Spring 2024 (assuming timely commitment of Government support)

In preparation for the launch of this project, Banff Centre engaged in a process beginning in the fall of 2018 to select an architect firm to work with on this project. The competition was completed in early 2019 with KPMB Architects and MTA Urban Design Architecture Interior Design being selected to lead the design work for the project.

The building structure housing the Eric Harvie Theatre, Margaret Greenham Theatre and Laszlo Funtek Teaching Wing is one of the oldest buildings on the Banff Centre campus. Opened in 1967, it has served for decades as a premier participant training facility and the Bow Valley's largest performing arts venue. Given its age, lack of upgrading and critical role within programming, this highly-used facility is now in urgent need of repair and upgrading in order to meet the present and future needs of Banff Centre participants who use the facility for their learning and training experiences and, in many cases, to develop and then present their works of art to the public. It accounts for a significant portion of the institution's deferred maintenance cost.

Banff Centre has continued conversations with the Government of Alberta and Government of Canada to identify funding for this critical project in its current or scaled form.

Banff Centre is proposing to proceed with this project in two phases as outlined herein as Priorities 1 and 2. Funding from the Government of Alberta would be foundational in ensuring we can then secure support from other potential funders for Phase 1.

Phase 1 involves redeveloping the existing Laslo Funtek teaching wing, including the Margaret Greenham Theatre, with a redesigned theatre space. The seating configuration would be flexible in size with audience capacity ranging from 100-400 and telescopic seating. It would also feature full grid lighting and sound positions throughout, a sprung floor, projection capabilities for film presentations and camera and microphone points for recording and livestreaming. A new shared lobby would be built that would provide space for the public, performing arts presentations and an improved audience experience. New dance classrooms would be constructed to provide training space for Banff Centre's dance programs.

The constructed space would meet the programming and artistic needs that support creative development and audience engagement. It would support all levels of pedagogy for artists, technicians and communication.

The design of the space would also be conducive with Banff Centre's natural setting in Canada's first national park.

The infrastructure provided by this project would support all disciplines and advanced technical requirements. The designed space would be built with flexible audience capability that could be easily configured, cost effectively providing a wide variety of audience and performance options.

In spring of 2019, Banff Centre received a lead transformational gift for the project from the family of Calgary resident, Mrs. Jenny Belzberg CM, AOE, LLD, which has allowed construction to begin on the existing Eric Harvie Theatre to refurbish and rejuvenate the capability of this facility. The focus of this renovation is to greatly improve accessibility, replace the existing seating and rebuild the existing theatre floor thereby improving sight lines and the audience experience. Improvements are being made to the acoustics and lighting in the venue, including the installation of specially designed wood panels that will enhance the sound quality. A new speaker and sound system and house lighting are also being installed. The renovated venue with seating for 638 will have newly installed sprinklers and many other features to bring it current with building code safety requirements. The estimated completion date of the Eric Harvie Theatre rejuvenation is October 2020.

A significant goal of the overall project is to address health and safety standards throughout the complex.

Priority 2:

Performing Arts and Learning Complex Phase 2 - Capital Renewal

Project estimate: \$30 million

In addition to the renovation of the Eric Harvie Theatre and lobby spaces described above, Banff Centre is seeking IMP capital renewal funds to improve backstage infrastructure and equipment, replace aging mechanical and electrical components and add digital projection capability to the Theatre.

A significant goal of this project is to address functional deficiencies as well as health and safety standards throughout the complex.

Priority 3:

Affordable Practicum and Staff Housing - Preservation and New Construction

Project estimate: \$23.0 million

Additional capacity: Increased/improved residential capacity to achieve strategic initiatives, including anticipated practicum growth as a result of the Performing Arts and Learning Complex project.

Expected completion date: 2023/24 (assuming timely confirmation of Government support)

The affordable housing crisis impacting Banff and the Bow Valley is well-known throughout the country. Zero percent vacancy (Pre COVID-19) and exceedingly high rental rates will make it a challenge for Banff Centre to recruit and retain staff and attract practicums who participate in skills training in the arts and culture sector. This project will not only address Banff Centre needs, but will also have multiple community benefits, easing pressure on the Town of Banff and the Bow Valley's region-wide affordable housing problem. Banff Centre continues to invest in the provision of affordable and heavily subsidized housing solutions for its staff and practicums.

The project, currently in the feasibility and planning stage, will add approximately 75-80 new housing units, in addition to replacing several existing units and refurbishing and reconfiguring rooms within the existing on-site dormitory-style residence to increase capacity and functionality. Planning meetings and discussions with stakeholders are underway, and Banff Centre is preparing a proposal to be put forward to the Alberta Ministry of Seniors and Housing and Ministry of Advanced Education to seek provincial investment.

Information Technology

Banff Centre depends on Information Technology (IT) infrastructure and systems to serve our artists, participants, and staff efficiently and effectively. A thorough review of Information Technology at Banff Centre in 2015-16 determined that much of the infrastructure and systems had not been maintained or upgraded appropriately. This resulted in the institution relying on older and, in some cases, unsupported versions of the technology.

Information protection and security is of the utmost concern for Banff Centre. Continuous improvement in security practices to protect our digital assets and the privacy of users is an absolute requirement. The cost to appropriately protect critical data is increasing rapidly with solutions needing to be updated or supplemented at a quicker pace than in the past.

Banff Centre will complete and release its new strategic plan in 2021 and will thus be revisiting IT plans in light of the new requirements. Banff Centre expects to continue addressing the backlog of critical infrastructure and application upgrades.

Banff Centre recognizes and embraces partnerships with other institutions in Alberta's adult learning system and other organizations to leverage technology solutions that create or shift capacity and reduce costs in managing Information Technology.

Continuous improvement in security practices to protect digital assets and user privacy

Banff Centre completed an in-depth information security assessment in 2016-17. Through that review and subsequent annual assessments Banff Centre maintains a prioritized plan for the implementation of improvements.

The main objectives of Banff Centre's Information Security Policy include:

- identifying responsibilities to ensure a framework of protection is in place for all information in Banff Centre's custody or control;
- classifying information into one of six security classification categories: public, internal, confidential, highly confidential, prohibited or restricted;
- directing users to the Information Storage and Distribution Procedure for further directions on how each category of information impacts access, storage, and distribution; and
- providing guidance on how to handle a security breach, the details of which are set out in the Information Security Incident Response Plan Procedure.

Banff Centre's Information Security - Incident Response Plan Procedure is consistent with the Ministry of Advanced Education's Cyber Security Incident Reporting Guideline adopted in October 2018.

Banff Centre's Information Security Policy includes a provision to track items that are not compliant with the policy. When more time is needed to adopt a certain requirement of the policy, or when it is not practical or feasible to follow the direction of the policy, an exemption must be approved by the Vice President, Administration and Chief Financial Officer, and the President and Chief Executive Officer. A remediation plan (as appropriate) with a timeline for compliance must be included with the exemption request. While the goal for Banff Centre remains to become fully compliant with the policy, that outcome is expected to take some time, particularly in light of residual human resources due to COVID-19.

Revitalizing infrastructure and enterprise applications

A new and revitalized staff IT Steering Committee (ITSC) began meeting in March 2016 and continues to meet on a regular basis. The committee is focused on prioritizing, resourcing and providing oversight for Banff Centre IT projects. The ITSC has identified a number of outstanding projects that should be addressed in the coming years. The project list is based on business cases that are submitted periodically to assist with prioritization, resulting in recommendations that are proposed to and approved by Banff Centre's senior leadership team.

Banff Centre's budgetary and staff capacity combined with the number of significant projects still on the roadmap means that major system implementations will extend through 2020-21 and beyond. A vendor for a new student information system was selected in 2017-18 and the implementation of the system is scheduled to be completed by December 31, 2020. This new system will dramatically increase the ease of access to program information and improve enrolment processes and participant services for future artists and leaders. Once the student information system project is completed in calendar 2020, Banff Centre expects to address the Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) system, which includes finance, human resources and payroll functions. The ERP project implementation is estimated to require at least 18 months for completion.

Major information technology systems

The table below describes Banff Centre's major IT systems. Banff Centre does not employ a Learning Management System (LMS) or an Emergency Management system. Banff Centre will have two major Customer Relationship Management (CRM) systems with the implementation of the Campus Nexus CRM and Raiser's Edge CRM systems.

Banff Centre's capacity for resourcing change (staffing and budget) alongside a number of other information system projects are competing for the same limited resources.

System	Vendor	Version	Current State	Risks	Plans
ERP - Finance/ HR/Payroll	Microsoft Dynamics Nav	5.0 (2007)	Highly customized system, not upgraded in 10+ years, complex upgrade path	Version is no longer supported by Microsoft or partners It will be at least 2 years before system is replaced	The new or updated ERP will be implemented once the Student Information System project is completed
Student Information System	Anthology (formerly Campus Management)	Campus Nexus Student 21.2 Campus Nexus CRM 13.1	The new student system was launched on April 1, 2020 and replaced the legacy end of life system.	Learning new system, training for staff Systems issues during stabilization period Skills to support system are difficult to find	Implement and stabilize new system Ongoing training Implement system upgrades 1-2 times per year
Donor Management	Raiser's Edge from Blackbaud	7.96	Target implementation of mid-fiscal 2020/21 to replace a legacy end of life system	Banff Centre capacity	Implement and stabilize new system Ongoing training

Banff Centre for Arts and Creativity Supporters

Through their generosity and investment in Banff Centre for Arts and Creativity, government, donors, sponsors and other supporters help inspire artists and leaders to make their unique contribution to society.

Government of Alberta

Alberta Advanced Education
Alberta Foundation for the Arts

Government of Canada

Canadian Heritage /
Patrimoine Canadien
Canada Council for the Arts /
Conseil des Arts du Canada

Lifetime Supporters

In recognition of supporters who have contributed \$100,000 or more to Banff Centre for Arts and Creativity cumulatively as of March 31, 2020. Amounts represent actual funds received and do not include pledge amounts committed that are receivable in future years.

\$10 million +

CORPORATE

Suncor Energy Foundation

FOUNDATION

The Kahanoff Foundation

INDIVIDUAL

James S. Kinnear and Friends

\$1 million - \$4,999,999

CORPORATE

BMO Financial Group
BP Canada Energy Group ULC
CNOOC Petroleum North America
ULC

Enbridge Inc. Husky Energy Inc.

Imperial

RBC Foundation and RBC
Shaw Communications Inc.
Shell Canada Limited
TD Bank Group

FOUNDATION

David Spencer Endowment
Encouragement Fund

J.W. McConnell Family Foundation

Max Bell Foundation

The Jarislowsky Foundation

Anonymous (2)

INDIVIDUAL

Edwards Family

Jim and Margaret* Fleck

Yolande* and Howard* Freeze

Estate of Dorothy Jean Harvie

Ann and Glen Sather and Family

Rosetta* and Mario* Stella

ORGANIZATION/ASSOCIATION

National Geographic Society
Rural Alberta Development Fund †

\$500,000 - \$999,999

CORPORATE

Autodesk
Cenovus Energy Inc.
Chevron Canada Limited
CIBC

Clif Bar & Company Encana Corporation

Great-West Life, London Life, and Canada Life

Maclab Development Group and Maclab Properties Group

Power Corporation of Canada Repsol Oil and Gas Canada Inc.

Rogers Communications
TC Energy Corporation

TELUS

The Globe and Mail The North Face TransAlta

FOUNDATION

Eldon and Anne Foote Fund at
Edmonton Community Foundation
The Bumper Foundation

INDIVIDUAL Irene Bakker

Gary Caplan

Margaret and David Fountain

Jamie and Brenda Mackie

Barbara* and John Poole, OC*

and Family

Alison Rice*

Kim and Jeff van Steenbergen Vladimir and Yachiyo Wolodarsky

\$250,000 - \$499,999

CORPORATE

Azimuth Capital Management

Banff Airporter Inc.

Banff and Lake Louise Tourism

CMH Heli-Skiing and Summer

Adventures

Coca-Cola Refreshments Canada

Company

ConocoPhillips Canada

Deuter

Gulf Canada Resources Limited †

Investors Group

J. Vair Anderson Jewellers

Lafarge

Lake Louise Ski Resort and Summer

Gondola

Masters Gallery Ltd.

Nabisco Brands Ltd.

New Balance

Nortel Networks Corporation †

Outdoor Research

Parkland Fuel Corporation

Patagonia

Pattison Outdoor Advertising

PCL Construction Group Inc.

Pengrowth Energy Corporation

Petzl

Rolex Canada Ltd.

Scotiabank

Sun Life Financial Canada

World Expeditions

Yamaha Canada Music Ltd.

FOUNDATION

The 1988 Foundation c/o Lotte and John Hecht Memorial Foundation

Calgary Flames Foundation

Calgary Foundation

Carolyn Sifton Foundation

Edmonton Community Foundation

The Nat Christie Foundation † Sir Jack Lyons Charitable Trust

The Slaight Family Foundation

INDIVIDUAL

Christine and David Anderson

Peter and Sheila Bentley

Andrea Brussa

Pat and Connie Carlson

Cyril and Elizabeth* Challice

Peter Crockford

Jackie Flanagan

Susan Glass and Arni Thorsteinson

Ernie and Sandra Green

Rebecca and Harley* Hotchkiss and

The Hotchkiss Family Foundation

John and Sheilagh Langille

Jens Lindemann, CM

Bobbye Ruth* and Dewitt* L. Potter

Bryan Price and Christine Choi

Jan and Adam Waterous

Joan* and Marshall Williams

Estate of Evelyn Wood

Anonymous

\$100,000 - \$249,999

CORPORATE

Alliance Pipeline

AMEX Canada Inc.

Anadarko Petroleum Corporation †

ARC Resources Ltd.

ATB Corporate Financial Services

B&E Electronics Ltd.

Bergans of Norway

Big Rock Brewery

Bird Construction Company Limited

Black Diamond

Blake, Cassels and Graydon LLP

Brewster Travel Canada

BUFF®

Calgary Herald

Canada House Gallery

Canadian Natural Resources Limited

Canadian North

Canadian Pacific

Canadian Utilities Limited,

an ATCO Company

CanWest Global Communications

Corporation †

Cavendish Investing Ltd.

CBN Commercial Solutions

Corus Entertainment Inc.

Cushe Footwear

Dentons Canada LLP

Deuter

Devon Canada Corporation

Diana Paul Galleries

EPCOR

Genstar †

Horizon North Logistics Inc.

House of Persian Rugs

HPR Gallery

James Richardson and Sons Limited

Kathmandu

Kicking Horse Coffee Company

Kun Shoulder Rest Inc.

Lehigh Hanson Materials Limited

Luscar Ltd.

Mammut

Mawer Investment Management

MEC

Molson Coors Canada

Mountain Galleries at the Fairmont

Mountain House

MSR - Mountain Safety Research

National Bank

NBCUniversal

NOVA Chemicals Corporation

Oboz Footwear

OneWest Event Design and Logistics

Pengrowth Management Ltd.

Petro-Canada †

Petronas Energy Canada

Rab

Rozsa Petroleum Ltd. Sidley Austin LLP

St. Joseph Communications

Teck Resources Limited

Trimac Transportation Services

Weyerhaeuser

Xerox Canada Ltd.

Yeti

Anonymous

FOUNDATION

The Alvin and Mona Libin Foundation

Appel Family Foundation

Cadmus Fund at Calgary Foundation

Clifford E. Lee Foundation

Flair Foundation

Jarislowsky Fraser Partners

Foundation

Nickle Family Foundation

R. Howard Webster Foundation

The W. Garfield Weston Foundation

William and Nona Heaslip Foundation

Anonymous

INDIVIDUAL

Adriana and Stephan Benediktson

Bruce and Carol Bentley

Children of Sheila and Peter Bentley

Linda Black, QC and Doug Black, QC

Alice Chan and Chen Fong

Estate of Frederick Louis Crosby

Michael and Heather Culbert

Michael B.C. Davies*

In Memory of Ilona Diener

Jim Dinning and Evelyn Main

Bryce and Nicki Douglas

Ed Eberts

Jane and Michael Evans

Jan and Larry Fichtner

Chris and Mary Fong

Ian and Judy Griffin

Frances Harley and Raul Urtasun

Dick and Lois Haskayne

Mary E. Hofstetter, C.M. and

R. David Riggs

Colin Jackson and Arlene Strom

Donald K. Johnson and

Anna McCowan-Johnson

Michael M. and Sonja Koerner

Jeff Kovitz, Q.C. and

Dr. Micheline Maylor

Peggy and David Leighton, O.C.

Jeanne and Peter* Lougheed

Letha J. MacLachlan, Q.C. and

John Ridge*

Estate of Jean MacQueen

Allan Markin, O.C.

Vickie and Russell McKinnon, Q.C.

Brent McLean and

Sheila Wappel-McLean

Viviane and Jay Mehr

Estate of Ruby Mercer

Gay Mitchell and Archie McIntosh

Alan and Geri Moon

Carlyle Norman*

Janice and Earle O'Born

Aldo and Elizabeth Parisot

Jim and Sandra Pitblado

Denise Poley, Marc Langlois,

Jean Mogensen*, Marni Virtue,

and Steve de Keijzer

Robyn and Gord Ritchie

Evalina Schmidtke

Toshimi and William Sembo

Rick and Brune Sinneave

Carolyn* and David Tavender, Q.C.

Catharine Whyte*

Nancy and Andrew Wiswell

Leonora Woods* in memory of

Lt.-Col. J.H. Woods

Anonymous (3)

ORGANIZATION/ASSOCIATION

Alpine Club of Canada

Calgary Philharmonic Players

Association

Siksika First Nation Development

Fund

Undisclosed Amount

Jenny Belzberg and Family

Alice Schultz

Betty Schultz

2019-20 Supporters

In recognition of donors and supporters who contributed to Banff Centre for Arts and Creativity between April 1, 2019 and March 31, 2020. Amounts represent actual funds received and do not include pledge amounts committed that are receivable in future years.

\$1 million - \$4,999,999

CORPORATION

Suncor Energy Foundation

\$250,000 - \$499,999

CORPORATE

Husky Energy Inc.

INDIVIDUAL

Irene Bakker

\$100,000 - \$249,999

CORPORATE

BMO Financial Group Clif Bar & Company The Globe and Mail

RBC Foundation and RBC

TD Bank Group

FOUNDATION

David Spencer Endowment
Encouragement Fund

The Slaight Family Foundation

INDIVIDUAL

Ian and Judy Griffin
Letha J. MacLachlan, Q.C. and
John Ridge*

\$50,000 - \$99,999

CORPORATE

Banff and Lake Louise Tourism Chevron Canada Limited J. Vair Anderson Jewellers

Kathmandu

Parkland Fuel Corporation

Power Corporation of Canada

Rab

Scotiabank

Shell Canada Limited

Sierra Nevada Brewing Company

Smartwool

WestJet Airlines Limited

Yeti

FOUNDATION

The Jarislowsky Foundation

INDIVIDUAL

Estate of Jennifer Louise Rule
Estate of Sheila Kathleen Piercey
Jane and Michael Evans
Ernie and Sandra Green
Cheryl Hawkes
Jennifer and Rick LeBouthillier

Kim and Jeff van Steenbergen

\$30,000 - \$49,999

Jim* and Karen Prentice

CORPORATE

Azimuth Capital Management

BUFF

City of Vancouver

Deuter

Imperial

Mountain House

TransAlta

INDIVIDUAL

Andrea Brussa

Pat and Connie Carlson

John and Sheilagh Langille

Brent McLean and

Sheila Wappel-McLean

Ross Rudolph

ORGANIZATION/ASSOCIATION

NOLS

\$20,000 - \$29,999

CORPORATE

Big Rock Brewery

Boston Consulting Group

Canadian National Railway Company

Kicking Horse Coffee Company

Lake Louise Ski Resort and Summer

Gondola

Maclab Properties Group and
Maclab Development Group

Masters Gallery Ltd.

Mawer Investment Management

Mountain Galleries at the Fairmont

OneWest Event Design and Logistics

Seven Generations Energy

World Expeditions

FOUNDATION

The 1988 Foundation c/o Lotte and John Hecht Memorial Foundation

The Azrieli Foundation

Calgary Flames Foundation

Eldon and Anne Foote Fund at

Edmonton Community Foundation

Jarislowsky Fraser Partners

Foundation

Anonymous

INDIVIDUAL

Christine and David Anderson

Estate of Marjorie Armstrong

Gertrude Cohos

Jan and Larry Fichtner

Tim and Alana Kitchen

Susie and Vahan Kololian

Fiona Mactaggart

Gay Mitchell and Archie McIntosh

Craig and Cara Senyk

Laura Rapp and Jay Smith

David Taylor

Anonymous (4)

\$10,000 - \$19,999

CORPORATE

Barclays

Bow Valley Power

The Camera Store

Canada House Gallery

Canadian North

Carter-Ryan Gallery

CBN Commercial Solutions

Deuter

Jarislowsky, Fraser Limited

Loch Gallery

MEC

Nikon Canada Inc.

Osprev

In honour of R.S. Williams & Sons Company

FOUNDATION

The Alvin and Mona Libin Foundation

Edmonton Community Foundation

Flair Foundation

Jeff and Marilyn McCaig

Sir Jack Lyons Charitable Trust

INDIVIDUAL

Joi T. Arcand

Mark Bourree and Catherine Bourree

Mr. Buck Braund

Gary Caplan

David and Norma Cooke

Edna and Richard Cushman

Heather Edwards

Chris and Mary Fong

Mrs. Julie George, George Family

Fund at Gift Funds Canada

Frances Harley and Raul Urtasun

Dick and Lois Haskayne

Mary E. Hofstetter, C.M. and

R. David Riggs

Rebecca and Harley* Hotchkiss and

The Hotchkiss Family Foundation

Don Howden and

Jane Squire Howden

Dr. John R. Lacey

Susan and Robert Larson

Jens Lindemann, C.M.

Michelle Milne

Jay Simmons and Jill Angevine

Don Smith

Mr. Dave Targett and

Mrs. Susan Targett

Shirley and Greg Turnbull, Q.C.

Jan and Adam Waterous

Bill Williams

Anonymous

ORGANIZATION/ASSOCIATION

Alberta Blue Cross

Alpine Club of Canada

\$6,000 - \$9,999

CORPORATE

Exclusive Resorts

Google

Helly Hansen

FOUNDATION

Birks Family Foundation

Ödön and Yvonne Panek Family Fund

- Community Foundation of Ottawa

Raymond James Canada Foundation

Somar Foundation

INDIVIDUAL

Dr. Derek Beaulieu

Gavin Berger and Craig Berggren

Carolyn and Steve Campbell

Samuel and Angela Hayes

Christopher Head

Glenda Hess

Margot and David Kitchen

Mike Krayacich

Robert Lemay

Keith McMullen

James and Janice Morton

Janice Price and Ian Findlay

Cody and Bernadette Slater

Gibson Fine Art – Janice Tanton

Daniel Thorburn

Jackson and Tracy von der Ohe

Bruce and Lis Welch

\$1,000 - \$5,999

CORPORATE

Air North

ALCANNA

Andronyk Jewelry

ARC Resources Ltd.

Barry Shaw Entertainment Inc.

Calgary Flames Limited Partnership

Circa Vintage Art Glass Inc.

The Cookbook Co. Cooks

Distinctive Collection

Fjällräven North America

Groupe Germain Hotels

Hays Ranches

Inspirati Ltd.

Ashley, Susan and Tony James

Jarvis Hall Fine Art

Julbo

JW Marriott Desert Springs Resort

& Spa

KUPILKA Eco Dishware and

Survival Gear

Lake O'Hara Lodge

Lolë Banff

Mayberry Fine Art

In memory of Clara Mentzelopoulos

Mountain Life Media Inc.

Mt. Norquay Ski Resort

Netherlands Investment Company

of Canada Limited

Nita Lake Lodge

Norseman Outdoor Specialist

The North Face Banff – owned and operated by Highline Outdoors

Park Distillery

Post Hotel and Spa

Qiviuk Boutiques

RMB

Rocky Mountain Soap Company

Rumble Supershake

Select Wines

Sherpa Adventure Gear

Susan Kun Jewellery Design

TD Canada Trust

Trangia AB

Willock and Sax Gallery

Wolf Midstream

Yamnuska Mountain Adventures

FOUNDATION

Artsylvia Foundation

Banff Canmore Community

Foundation

Bonnie & Daryl Howard Charitable

Foundation

Consulate General of Israel

Dutch Foundation for Literature

Glasswaters Foundation

Harry and Martha Cohen Foundation

Hicks Memorial Fund at Calgary

Foundation

Jackman Foundation

Lennox Family Foundation

The Lloyd Carr-Harris Foundation

Mactaggart Third Fund

Virginia Middleberg Fund at Calgary

Foundation

Morton Family Foundation

Pamela Grigg Charitable Fund at

Calgary Foundation

Pekisko Arts Fund at Calgary

Foundation

The Smith Vanstokkom Foundation

Tamaratt Endowment Fund at Calgary

Foundation

INDIVIDUAL

Fernando Alvarez

Kim Anderson

Gail Andrew and Richard Haagsma

Al and Nancy Bellstedt

Jenny Belzberg

Bruce and Carol Bentley

Peter and Sheila Bentley

Michael Binnion

Jeff Boyd

Richard Bremner and Clare Jarman

Bob Burnside

Melanie Busby and Goldie Edworthy

Cyril and Elizabeth* Challice

Michael Code

John Cooper and Kathy Bowden

Chris Cran

Andrew and Nicola Dahlin

Fred Dalena and Shawna Bell

Isabella Danel, Sasza Lohrey and

Rachael Lohrey

Maria David-Evans

Linda and Owen De Bathe

John Dean

David and Karen Desjarlais

Jim Dinning and Evelyn Main

Amy Dryer

Kristine Eidsvik and Tom Couture

Bob and Mary Jane Espey

Matt Faure

Barbara Fish

Bill and Ruby Fisher

Sharon Friesen

Bill Friley

Katharine Funtek

David and Janice Gardner

Kirby Gavelin and Louise Tymocko

Susan Glass and Arni Thorsteinson

Rvan Green

Lianne Gulka and Carl Hoyt

Kyla Hamm

Paul Hardy, Phil Crozier,

River Café/Deane House

Jennifer and Simon Harfield

Jennifer Hatfield

Simon Hatfield

Ross and Nancy Hayes

Christine Healy

Kameko Higa

Aron Hill

Daniel Hitchens

Dale and Chari Hohm

Ron Holdsworth and Constance Hunt

Jennifer Holganza

Andrea Hopps and Michael Mezei

Stephanie Howard

Colin Jackson and Arlene Strom

Howard R. Jang and

Alexandra Montgomery

Donald K. Johnson and

Anna McCowan-Johnson

Jolliffe and Godlonton Families

Vernon and Barbara Jones

Hsing Jou

Valerie and Clarence Kapay

Maureen and Joe Katchen Andy Kenins and Heather Kaine

Michael Kennedy Sheila Kernan Sarah Kidner

Hong-Yol and Soo-Ok Kim Lisa and Nigel Kuzemko

Melanie Kwong Gerard Lachapelle

Ed LaFehr

Judith LaRocque and André Lavoie

Debra and Darrell Law Alain and Erika Lefevre

Peggy and David Leighton, OC Blaine and Carmen Lennox

Jim Letourneau

Nancy Lever and Alex Pochmursky

D'Arcy Levesque

Andrea Smith and Scott Lingle

Winston and Bette Lord

Tyler Los-Jones

Joe and Vivian Lougheed

MacDonald Family

Jamie and Brenda Mackie Gerald and Anna Maier

Marc Mailhot

Jonathan Malley

Murray Malley and Jacqueline Nowak

Bill Marshall and Nancy Bennett

Rob Maybery

M. Ann McCaig

Michael and Jennifer McMillan

Rachel McMillan

Tim McNamara & Michele Perret

Trina McQueen Francesco Mele Suzette Meloff

Marc and Michelle Mereau

Kevin and Dore Meyers

Arliss Miller Tim Milligan Robert and Andrea Mohr

Martin Molyneaux and Deborah Yedlin

Alan and Geri Moon

Patricia Moore Angela Morgan

Patricia and Norbert Morgenstern

Andrew Mosker Alan Murdock Sarah Nelems Rachel N. Ng

Dave and Cathy Orr

David Paperny and Audrey Mehler

Rob and Patricia Peabody

William Pieschel Renée Pittet

Adrian Plummer and

Whitney Hughes Plummer

Phil and Arlene Ponting

Jill Price

In Memory of Mary Margaret Rae

Margo and Brant Randles Jeff and Andrea Rinker Robyn and Gord Ritchie

Richard Roskey Sheilagh Ross Charles Rouse

Mary Rozsa de Coquet

Pat Ruby

Anthony and Alice Russell

Jung-Suk Ryu

Toshimi and William Sembo

C.A. Siebens

Myron and Jennifer Stadnyk

Ryan Stasynec Stewart Steinhauer

Rosemary Thompson and

Pierre Boulet Rhea Tregeboy

Peter and Dianne Trethewey

Ian Tudhope Vernon G. Turner Helen Utsal

D. Grant Vingoe

Wendy Wacko **Amber Wanless**

Stephen Weiss and Deborah Marshall

Tim Welch

H₂wOw water enhancer Norma and Ron Westcott David T. Weyant Q.C. and Charlene Anderson

John Whelan and Michelle Bailey

William Williams

Carol Ann and Peter Williams Nancy and Andrew Wiswell Hans and Susan Wolf

Hans Wolf

Robert Woodward

Mark and Dorothy Woolstencroft

James Wyper Anonymous (3)

ORGANIZATION/ASSOCIATION

Archives Society of Alberta

ACMG

Canmore Folk Music Festival Society

Beverley Diamond University of Alberta

Whyte Museum of the Canadian

Rockies

Under \$1,000

CORPORATE

Bow River Brewing Inc

Centini Restaurant & Lounge

Christine Klassen Gallery

- Robert Pierce

Crowfoot Media Inc

Dan Sparks & Associates Groupe Germain Hotels

Herringer Kiss Gallery - Aron Hill

Kit Interior Objects **Knotted Wood Designs**

Lulu BTM Designs Rebecca Anthony Alan Dornian

Miko Photography Carol Anne and Fred Antoniuk Donna and Roger Egglestone

Monogram CoffeeKathy and Paul ArneyErnest EnnsMount Norquay Via FerrataMark and Kate AyrantoLynn EytonNature BacksStephanie BallardKris Fernet

Noseworthy Imports Ltd. Ed Bamiling Jill Fitz Hirschbold
Oboz Footwear Mary Lou Banks Judith Fraser

Resorts of the Canadian Rockies Anita Battrum and Kathryn Madill Simon Gamache

Rodney's Oyster House Lee Berk Penney Gaul and Martin Armitage
Sean LeBlanc Photography Cathy Billington and Evan Webb Randy Gelling and Geraldine Bulosan

Spirits with Smoke Ian & Beatrice Binmore Bill Gilliland
Stewart Creek Golf Course Mark & Jacqueline Blackwell The Brigade

Stone's Jewellery Ltd. Michael and Anavel Boge Norman and Linda Gold

StuffJoan BosworthIna GordonTelus CorporationPeter BrandonDave GranatoThe Front Gallery - Tom GaleGord BridgemanShauntay GrantTwigs and CompanyJonathan BrownNeal Gripp

Vine Arts Wine and Spirits Michael Brown Elizabeth Guilbride

Wallace Galleries Ltd. Karen Brumelle Ralph and Sheila Gurevitch

Wash & Co.

Leslie Buckley

Frances Hagedorn

Wickaninnish Inn

Peter Buzogány

Martha Haldenby

Wild Life Distillery

Bruce and Dawn Byford

Brett & Erika

Wool & Oak

IC- Nicholas Cameron

Lynn Harvey

Worldwide Specialty Foods Gus and Diane Campbell Roderick and Phyllis Harvey

ZINC Restaurant Heather Campbell Barbara Hay

Anonymous Marc A. Carnes and Christy Holtby Thomas Hecht

Graham and Maureen Carpenter Paul and Sandra Hellyer

Mr. Devon Carter-Wells Jose - Alfredo

FOUNDATION

Cameron Thompson Memorial

Fund at Community Foundation for Kingston

Vincent Chahley

Vincent Chahley

Walter and Gloria Chayka

Mark and Nancy Heule

CanadaHelps Judy Ciccaglione Ryan Hobson

CHIMP: Charitable Impact Foundation
Mobile Giving Foundation Canada

Heather Clitheroe

W.A. Cochrane and Family

Marlene and Wayne Holst

W.A. Cochrane and Family

Jim and Gloria Honeyman

Mu Phi Epsilon Foundation
Stategic Charitable Giving Foundation

And Craig Copelan

David Cox and Lee Hutchinson

And Vincent Irwin

Andy Crocker

Joel Ivany

INDIVIDUALYves and Sally DansereauMarni JacksonSilvio AdamoChristopher DeaconTony JamesRobert AitkenDebbie DeLanceyPriscilla JanesJulie AndertonFrances Delaney DaviesDaiva Jocius

Jeanie Andronyk Cindy Delpart Craig and Valerie Johnstone

John Kapustka

Edward and Ann Kerwin

Christine Kirby

Patricia Klinck Joshua Knelman

Jennifer Knorr Sara Kuefler

Wendy Kunsman

Gayle and Alfred Kwinter

Peter Lancaster
Joffrey Larocque

Ryland Gardner & Shari Leach

Tricia Leadbeater

Ava Lee

Patricia Lee and James Zaback

Joan and Philip Leighton

Emily and Edward Leung

Paul Lewis and Jill Wyatt

Ron and Leslie Lewis

Lincoln Little

Doris Livingstone

Susan Low-Beer

Lubin McLean

Sarah Lumsden

Christina Ly and Sam Hustej

Ian and Dorothy MacDonald

Mary Spaeder Michael MacMillan

Mimmo Maiolo Lucie Marcel

Lynette and Dan Markham

Kat Marks of LETHRBAR
Charles Mason and Cherie Selis

Richard and Janet Matthews

Floyd McComas

Pauline McCullagh in memory of

David McCullagh

Ross Middleton

Ken Millar

Laura Millard Susan Miller Katharine Mills

Andrea Perez

Alexandra and Roger Moore

Marc W. Mullo

Jean and Jim Murray

Marie Natanson

Sheila and Sandy Navrady

John Neal

Susan Nisenbaum Becker

Candice Noakes

Brian Norford and
Diana Paul Gonsalves

Tom Oakley

Spencer O'Brien

Jane O'Hara

Chip and Jim Olver

Patricia Olynyk

Joyce and Tom Orchard

Hannah Ordway

Paula Pacholek

Richard and Inge Page

Steve Paikin

David Park & Natalie Tasker

Judy and Gordon Paterson

Doña Paula

Dorothy Plettell

Mark Porter

Andrea Probert

Darlene Quaife Sally S Reardon

Craig Richards

O

Gloria Riva Burdett

Keesha Dorosz

Thelma and S. David Rosner

Aphrodite Salas

Mr. Donald Seaman

Tom Shaw-Stiffel

Evelyn Sheftel-Shapiro

Kiera Simons

R.P. Joe Smith

Kim Stewart

iatu Seaman

Randy Van Dorsten Paul Van Ginkel Sandra Van Stolk Cynthia Van Sundert

Mr. E. Wes van der Lee

Harry and Kathy Strub

Sylvan Lake Gang

Will Taylor

Dale Turri

Kyler Tebbutt

Wendy Tokaryk

David Tavender, QC

Janet Wallace

Lori Ward Jayne Watson

Dustin Westling

Dr. Terry and Sue White

Stan and Ros Witkin

Rod and Charlotte Wojtula

Barry Wolfish

Albert and Vivian Wood

Anne Wright-Howard

Glenda and Neil Yeates

Helen Youn

Lenka Zacharova

Anonymous

ORGANIZATION/ASSOCIATION

Alberta Ballet

Art Gallery of Alberta

Calgary International Film Festival

Calgary Opera

Canadian Union of Public Employees

- Local 4318

Citadel Theatre and Normand's Bistro Development Team – Banff Centre

The Scotch Malt Whisky Society

Anonymous

Undisclosed Amount

Jenny Belzberg and Family Alice Schultz Betty Schultz

OTHER SUPPORTERS AND PARTNERS

The Benevity Community
Impact Fund
Banff Canmore Community
Foundation
Calgary Foundation

CanadaHelps

Edmonton Community Foundation

Gift Funds Canada

United Way of Calgary and Area

United Way Toronto and York Region

^{*} deceased

[†] inactive

BANFF CENTRE FOR ARTS AND CREATIVITY CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

March 31, 2020

Statement of Management Responsibility

For the year ended March 31, 2020

The consolidated financial statements of Board of Governors of The Banff Centre (operating as Banff Centre for Arts and Creativity) ("Banff Centre") have been prepared by management in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, including the 4200 series of standards. The consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Banff Centre as at March 31, 2020 and the results of its operations, changes in net assets and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with these standards.

In fulfilling its responsibilities and recognizing the limits inherent in all systems, management has developed and maintains a system of internal control designed to provide reasonable assurance that Banff Centre assets are safeguarded from loss and that the accounting records are a reliable basis for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements.

Banff Centre's Board of Governors is responsible for reviewing and approving the consolidated financial statements, and overseeing management's performance of its financial reporting responsibilities. The Board of Governors carries out its responsibility for review of the consolidated financial statements principally through its Audit and Finance Committee. With the exception of the President and CEO, all members of the Audit and Finance Committee are not employees of Banff Centre. The Audit and Finance Committee meets with management and the external auditors to discuss the results of audit examinations and financial reporting matters. The external auditors have full access to the Audit and Finance Committee, with and without the presence of management.

These consolidated financial statements have been reported on by Deloitte LLP. The Independent Auditor's Report outlines the scope of the audit and provides the audit opinion on the fairness of presentation of the information in the consolidated financial statements.

Président and CEO

| Bresident, Administration and CFO | Compared to the compa



Deloitte LLP 10180 101 Street NW Suite 1500 Manulife Place Edmonton AB T5J 4K1 Canada

Tel: 780-421-3611 Fax: 780-421-3782 www.deloitte.ca

Independent Auditor's Report

To the Board of Governors of The Banff Centre

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of the Board of Governors of The Banff Centre (the "Centre"), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at March 31, 2020, and the consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies (collectively referred to as the "financial statements").

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Centre as at March 31, 2020, and the results of its operations, its remeasurement gains and losses, and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards ("PSAS").

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards ("Canadian GAAS"). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the *Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements* section of our report. We are independent of the Centre in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with PSAS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Centre's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Centre or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Centre's financial reporting process.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian GAAS will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian GAAS, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
 fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
 evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
 detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
 as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override
 of internal control.
- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Centre's internal control.
- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.
- Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Centre's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Centre to cease to continue as a going concern.
- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
- Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the Centre to express an opinion on the financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Chartered Professional Accountants

eloitte LLP

May 21, 2020

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

As at March 31, 2020 (in thousands of dollars)

		2020	2019
Assets			
Current assets			
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	18,457	\$ 19,333
Accounts and grants receivable (note 5)		3,078	2,295
Note receivable and deferred charge (note 6)		699	693
Inventories and prepaid expenses		950	1,106
		23,184	23,427
Long-term investments (note 3)		52,983	56,823
Capital assets (note 7)		141,936	141,157
	\$	218,103	\$ 221,407
Liabilities			
Current liabilities			
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	\$	7,142	\$ 4,654
Unearned revenue and deposits (note 8)		1,331	3,789
Deferred contributions (note 9)		15,703	13,091
Loans and borrowings (note 11)		4,950	3,528
• • •		29,126	25,062
Loans and borrowings (note 11)		12,873	15,232
Employee future benefit liabilities (note 12)		2,351	2,272
Deferred contributions (note 9)		11,058	17,514
Deferred expended capital contributions (note 10)		103,472	102,891
	_	158,880	162,971
Net Assets			
Accumulated operating surplus (note 14)		15,767	16,950
Endowments (note 15)		43,456	41,486
		59,223	58,436
	\$	218,103	\$ 221,407

Contractual obligations (note 13)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Signed on behalf of Board of Governors of The Banff Centre:

Chair, Board of Governors

resident and CEO, Banff Centre

Consolidated Statement of Operations and Changes in Net Assets For the year ended March 31, 2020 (in thousands of dollars)

	_	Budget 2020	Actual 2020	Actual 2019
Revenue		(Note 19)		
Government of Alberta grants (note 16)	\$	22,199 \$	19,930 \$	21,776
Federal and other government grants (note 16)		2,612	3,036	2,628
Sales, rentals and services		32,938	30,987	31,709
Tuition and related fees		3,369	2,827	2,893
Donations and other grants		7,432	6,456	6,182
Investment earnings (note 17)		3,143	3,275	2,999
Amortization of deferred expended capital contributions (note 10)	_	3,689	3,670	3,835
	_	75,382	70,181	72,022
Expense				
Arts and leadership programming		27,176	26,135	24,947
Institutional support		16,731	15,302	14,760
Facilities operations and related costs		14,064	12,321	14,206
Ancillary operations	_	17,371	17,606	17,334
	_	75,342	71,364	71,247
(Deficiency) excess of revenue over expense	\$ _	40	(1,183)	775
Net assets, beginning of year			58,436	56,651
Endowment contributions and other transfers (note 15)			1,970	1,010
Net assets, end of year		\$	59,223 \$	58,436

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended March 31, 2020 (in thousands of dollars)

Operating Transactions	 2020	2019
(Deficiency) excess of revenue over expense	\$ (1,183)	\$ 775
Non-cash items:		
Amortization of capital assets (note 7)	5,852	6,037
Amortization of deferred expended capital contributions (note 10)	(3,670)	(3,835)
Change in employee future benefit liabilities	79	(676)
Other non-cash adjustments	27	15
Change in:		
Accounts and grants receivable	550	1,863
Inventories and prepaid expenses	358	(392)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	961	444
Unearned revenue and deposits	(2,458)	775
Deferred contributions	 (3,533)	(5,405)
Cash used in operating transactions	 (3,017)	(399)
Capital Transactions		
Acquisition of capital assets (note 7)	 (4,608)	(5,696)
Cash applied to capital transactions	 (4,608)	(5,696)
Investing Transactions		
Sales of long-term investments, net of purchases	256	2,187
Realized endowment investment earnings, net of distributions	694	1,685
Other realized restricted investment earnings	430	341
Cash provided by investing transactions	1,380	4,213
Financing Transactions		
Proceeds on sale-leaseback transactions (note 7)	_	1,302
Long-term deferred capital contributions received	5,079	5,506
Endowment contributions and transfers (note 15)	1,970	1,010
Change in demand operating facility	130	(200)
Long-term loan principal repayments	(1,810)	(862)
Cash provided by financing transactions	5,369	6,756
(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents	(876)	4,874
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year	19,333	14,459
one in the case of	 ,	
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year	\$ 18,457	\$ 19,333
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year, is comprised of:		
Cash on hand	\$ 1,322	\$ 1,275
Demand deposits and guaranteed investment certificates	17,135	18,058
	\$ 18,457	\$ 19,333

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

March 31, 2020

(in thousands of dollars, except where specifically expressed in millions)

Note 1 Authority and purpose

Board of Governors of The Banff Centre (operating as Banff Centre for Arts and Creativity) ("Banff Centre") is a corporation that operates under the Post-Secondary Learning Act (Alberta). Banff Centre is a registered charity, and under section 149 of the Income Tax Act (Canada) is exempt from income tax.

Banff Centre is Canada's largest post graduate arts and leadership training institute that offers a broad range of learning and professional development, with a core emphasis on multi-disciplinary arts education and creation, Indigenous arts and leadership programs, mountain culture, and leadership development.

Note 2 Summary of significant accounting policies and reporting practices

(a) Consolidated financial statements

These financial statements are prepared on a consolidated basis and include the accounts of Banff Centre and The Banff Centre Foundation, which is controlled (as defined by accounting standards) by Banff Centre and operates exclusively to support the activities of Banff Centre. The Banff Centre Foundation is a registered charity and under section 149 of the Income Tax Act (Canada) is exempt from income tax.

(b) Public sector accounting standards ("PSAS") and use of estimates

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with PSAS, including the 4200 series of standards. The measurement of certain assets and liabilities is contingent upon future events; therefore, the preparation of these financial statements requires the use of estimates, which may vary from actual results. Banff Centre's management uses judgment to determine such estimates. The fair value of investments, employee future benefit liabilities, amortization of capital assets, amortization of deferred expended capital contributions, potential impairment of capital assets and accrued liabilities are the most significant items based on estimates. In management's opinion, the resulting estimates are within reasonable limits of materiality and are in accordance with the significant accounting policies summarized below.

(c) Valuation of financial assets and liabilities

Banff Centre's financial assets and liabilities are generally measured as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents

Long term investments, externally managed

Long term investments, internally managed

Cost or amortized cost

Accounts, grants and notes receivable

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

Loans and borrowings

Amortized cost

Amortized cost

Externally managed investments include all funds managed within The Banff Centre Foundation and other foundations managing assets on behalf of Banff Centre. Externally managed investments could include equity instruments, bonds, money market funds and other fixed/variable interest investments.

All financial assets measured at cost or amortized cost are tested annually for impairment. When a financial asset is impaired, an impairment loss is recorded. The write-down of a financial asset measured at cost or amortized cost to reflect a loss in value is not reversed for a subsequent increase in value.

For financial instruments measured using amortized cost, the effective interest rate method is used to determine interest revenue or expense. Transaction costs are a component of cost for financial instruments measured using cost or amortized cost. Transaction costs are expensed for financial instruments measured at fair value. Investment management fees are charged to investment earnings as incurred. The purchase and sale of cash and cash equivalents and investments are accounted for using trade-date accounting.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

March 31, 2020

(in thousands of dollars, except where specifically expressed in millions)

Note 2 Summary of significant accounting policies and reporting practices (continued)

(c) Valuation of financial assets and liabilities (continued)

Management evaluates contractual obligations for the existence of embedded derivatives and elects to either designate the entire contract for fair value measurement or separately measure the value of the derivative component when characteristics of the derivative are not closely related to the economic characteristics and risks of the contract itself. Contracts to buy or sell non-financial items for Banff Centre's normal purchase, sale or usage requirements are not recognized as financial assets or liabilities. Banff Centre does not have any embedded derivatives.

(d) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, demand deposits and highly-liquid investments that are readily convertible to cash and have a maturity of less than three months from the date of acquisition.

(e) Inventories

Inventories held for resale are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value, being the estimated selling price less the cost to sell. Inventories held for consumption are valued at the lower of cost and replacement value. Cost is calculated principally using the weighted-average cost method.

(f) Capital assets

Purchased capital assets are recorded at cost, which includes amounts that are directly related to the acquisition, design, construction, development, improvement and betterment of the assets. The cost of capital assets includes overhead directly attributable to construction and development, as well as interest costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or construction of the assets. Capital assets, except for property under development, are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Land improvements20 yearsBuildings and improvements50 yearsEquipment, furnishings and software4-15 years

Property under development is not amortized until the project is substantially complete and the asset is placed in service. Leases of capital assets that transfer substantially all the benefits and risks of ownership are accounted for as capital assets acquired under capital lease. Assets acquired under capital lease are recorded at the present value of the future minimum lease payments at the inception of the lease excluding any executory costs (e.g., insurance, maintenance costs, etc.) and are amortized on the same basis and under the same terms as the asset categories described above. Contributed capital assets are recorded at fair value when such value can be reasonably determined. Works of art, historical treasures and collections are expensed when acquired and not recognized as capital assets because a reasonable estimate of future benefits associated with such property cannot be made. The cost of these collections is disclosed in note 7.

Capital assets are written down when conditions indicate that they no longer contribute to Banff Centre's ability to provide goods and services, or when the value of future economic benefits associated with the capital assets is less than their net book value. The net write-downs are accounted for as expenses in the consolidated statement of operations.

(g) Revenue recognition

All revenues are reported using the accrual basis of accounting. Amounts received in advance for tuition, fees, and sales of goods and services are classified as unearned and recognized as revenue at the time the goods are delivered or the services are provided.

Banff Centre follows the deferral method of accounting for contributions and recognizes government grants, donations and other grants as described below.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

March 31, 2020

(in thousands of dollars, except where specifically expressed in millions)

Note 2 Summary of significant accounting policies and reporting practices (continued)

(g) Revenue recognition (continued)

Donations and non-government grants are received from individuals, corporations and private sector not-for-profit organizations. These funds and government grants may be unrestricted or restricted for operating, endowment or capital purposes.

Unrestricted non-capital contributions are recorded as revenue in the year received or in the year the funds are committed to Banff Centre if the amount can be reasonably estimated and collection is reasonably assured.

Externally restricted non-capital contributions are deferred and recognized as revenue in the period in which the related expenses are incurred. Externally restricted amounts can only be used for the purposes designated by external parties.

Externally restricted capital contributions are recorded as deferred contributions until the amounts are invested in capital assets, at which time the amounts are transferred to deferred expended capital contributions.

Deferred expended capital contributions are recognized as revenue in the periods in which the related amortization expense of the funded capital assets is recorded. The related portions of capital amortization expense and deferred expended capital contributions amortization are matched to indicate that the amortization expense has been funded externally.

Investment earnings include dividend and interest income, realized gains and losses on the sale of investments and unrealized gains and losses on investments.

Any externally restricted contributions containing stipulations that the amounts be retained as net assets or not be expended are recorded as direct increases in net assets. Such stipulations would include contributions made for endowment purposes. Any investment earnings attributable to these funds that must be maintained in perpetuity are also recognized as a direct increase in endowment net assets.

Unrealized gains and losses from changes in the fair value of financial instruments with no restriction over the use of investment earnings are recognized in the statement of remeasurement gains and losses. Upon settlement, the cumulative gain or loss is reclassified from the statement of remeasurement gains and losses and recognized in the consolidated statement of operations.

Investment earnings related to investments restricted for endowments are managed in accordance with donor restrictions for their use and recognized as deferred contributions before being recognized in the consolidated statement of operations when the funds are expended. Investment earnings associated with other restricted contributions are also recorded as deferred contributions and recognized in the consolidated statement of operations when the funds are expended.

In-kind donations of services and materials are recorded at fair value when such value can be reasonably determined. While volunteers contribute a significant amount of time each year to assist Banff Centre, the value of their services is not recognized as revenue and expenses in the consolidated financial statements because the fair value cannot be reasonably determined.

(h) Foreign currency translation

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to Canadian dollars using estimated exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Carrying values of monetary assets and liabilities and non-monetary items carried at fair value reflect the exchange rates at the consolidated statement of financial position date. Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are recognized in the consolidated statement of operations.

(i) Employee future benefits

Banff Centre participates with other employers in the Public Service Pension Plan (PSPP) and the Universities Academic Pension Plan (UAPP). These pension plans are multi-employer defined benefit pension plans that provide pensions for the employers' participating employees based on years of service and earnings.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

March 31, 2020

(in thousands of dollars, except where specifically expressed in millions)

Note 2 Summary of significant accounting policies and reporting practices (continued)

(i) Employee future benefits (continued)

Pension expense for the UAPP is actuarially determined using the projected benefit method prorated on service and is allocated to each participant based on the respective percentage of pensionable earnings. Actuarial gains or losses on the accrued benefit obligation are amortized over the expected average remaining service life of participants.

Banff Centre does not have sufficient plan information on the PSPP required to follow the standards for defined benefit accounting. Accordingly, pension expense recorded for the PSPP is comprised of employer contributions to the plan that are required for its employees during the year. The contributions are calculated based on actuarially predetermined amounts that are expected to fund the plan's future benefits.

(j) Future accounting changes

In August 2018, the Public Sector Accounting Board issued PS 3280 Asset Retirement Obligations. This accounting standard is effective for fiscal years starting on or after April 1, 2021 and provides guidance on how to account for and report a liability for retirement of a tangible capital asset.

In November 2018, the Public Sector Accounting Board issued PS 3400 Revenue. This accounting standard is effective for fiscal years starting on or after April 1, 2022 and provides guidance on how to account for and report on revenue, specifically addressing revenue arising from exchange transactions and unilateral transactions.

Management is currently assessing the impact, if any, of these new standards on the consolidated financial statements.

Note 3 Long-term investments

· ·	 2020	2019
Long-term investments, non-endowment	\$ 9,527	\$ 15,337
Long-term investments, restricted for endowments	43,456	41,486
	\$ 52,983	\$ 56,823
Investments at cost or amortized cost:		
Notice demand account (NDA) deposits	\$ 1,552	\$ -
Guaranteed investment certificates (GICs)	1,590	5,769
Alternative investments	657	627
	 3,799	6,396
Investments at fair value:		
Cash and cash equivalents held for investment and in brokerage accounts	3,295	3,759
Canadian government bonds	9,517	8,743
Corporate bonds	7,325	6,812
Equity investments	29,047	31,113
	49,184	50,427
	\$ 52,983	\$ 56,823

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

March 31, 2020

(in thousands of dollars, except where specifically expressed in millions)

Note 3 Long-term investments (continued)

Alternative investments include an insurance policy that was donated in December 2018, where The Banff Centre Foundation has been designated as the beneficiary. A third party valuation was the basis for determining its initial measurement at fair value to approximate cost. The donation was treated as a non-cash transaction on the statement of cash flows.

Investments at fair value include a pooled fund holding in which The Banff Centre Foundation has an equity interest represented by units in the pooled fund and any distributions from the fund. The pooled fund investment consists of several underlying pooled fund holdings of cash and cash equivalents, Canadian government bonds, corporate bonds and Canadian, U.S. and international equities. The pooled fund holdings have been allocated accordingly to the categories in the table above.

See note 4(f) for explanation of fair value measurements. Investments other than bonds and other fixed income investments are considered Level 1 items where fair value is measured based on quoted prices in active markets for identical investments. Bonds and other fixed income investments included in cash and cash equivalents are Level 2 items where fair value is measured based on market inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the investments either directly or indirectly.

Note 4 Financial risk management

Banff Centre is exposed to a variety of financial risks, including market risks (price risk, currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk, primarily in relation to its investments. To manage these risks, Banff Centre invests in a diversified portfolio of investments that is guided by established investment policies that outline risk and return objectives. The long-term objective of Banff Centre's investment policies is to maximize the return on investment assets after meeting ongoing disbursement requirements. The specific financial objectives include the provision of stable and consistent income to meet the goals of Banff Centre, capital appreciation (without undue risk) such that investments continue to grow over time in real terms, and minimization of risk through diversification.

Banff Centre does not use foreign currency contracts or any other type of derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes.

Banff Centre is exposed to the following risks:

(a) Price risk

Price risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices, whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual instrument, its issuer or general market factors affecting all instruments. To manage this risk for investments, Banff Centre has policies and procedures in place governing asset mix, diversification, exposure limits, credit quality and performance measurement.

Investments are disclosed in note 3. Price risk is most significant in relation to equity investments, where each 1% change in value would have an impact of \$290.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

March 31, 2020

(in thousands of dollars, except where specifically expressed in millions)

Note 4 Financial risk management (continued)

(b) Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in foreign exchange rates. The following table provides the carrying value of long-term investments denominated in various currencies and the sensitivity to a 1% change in currency value:

	Carrying value	!	Impact of 1% change
Canadian denominated investments	\$ 33,803	\$	-
US denominated investments	10,393		104
Investments denominated in other currencies	8,787		88
	\$ 52,983	\$	192

Foreign currency risk for financial instruments other than investments is insignificant.

(c) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk to Banff Centre's earnings that arises from the fluctuation and degree of volatility in interest rates. Interest rate risk on Banff Centre's loans and borrowings and investments in bonds is insignificant given that rates are primarily fixed over longer terms. Changes in interest rates will, however, impact the market price of bonds. Interest rate risk in relation to other interest bearing instruments, including cash and cash equivalents and GICs, exists given many have variable interest rates and others with fixed rates have relatively short terms to maturity when they may need to be renewed. The carrying value of these instruments, both current and long term, totals \$23.6 million, so the impact of each 1% change in interest rates would be \$236 annually. This sensitivity ignores the fact that some of these instruments are locked in for longer periods of time, as indicated in the table below.

The maturities of interest-bearing investments held by Banff Centre are as follows:

	< 1 year	1-5 years	> 5 years	Average market yield
	%	%	%	%
Interest bearing accounts	100.0	-	-	0.7
Money market funds	100.0	-	-	0.2
Guaranteed investment certificates	100.0	-	-	1.3
Canadian government and corporate bonds	0.7	36.2	63.1	2.4

(d) Credit risk

Banff Centre is exposed to credit risk on investments arising from the potential failure of a counterparty, debtor or issuer to honor its contractual obligations. To manage this risk, Banff Centre has established an investment policy with required minimum credit quality standards and issuer limits.

2020

2010

The credit ratings on investments held by Banff Centre are as follows:

	2020	2019
A or higher	88.2%	89.8%
BBB	11.8%	10.2%

Banff Centre's accounts receivable are subject to normal credit risks due to the nature of Banff Centre's customers and grantors. The carrying values of these receivables reflect management's assessment of the credit risk associated with these customers and grantors.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

March 31, 2020

(in thousands of dollars, except where specifically expressed in millions)

Note 4 Financial risk management (continued)

(e) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that Banff Centre will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they become due. Banff Centre actively manages its liquidity through weekly and longer-term cash outlook and debt management strategies. Banff Centre's policy is to ensure that sufficient resources are available either from cash balances, cash flows or undrawn bank facilities, to ensure all obligations are met as they fall due. As detailed in note 11, Banff Centre has credit facilities, including letters of credit, totalling \$14.2 million available to ensure that funds are available to meet current and forecasted financial requirements. At March 31, 2020, \$4.7 million (2019 - \$4.8 million) was outstanding under these credit facilities.

(f) Fair value

When measuring the fair value of an asset or liability, Banff Centre uses market observable data to the extent possible. Fair values are categorized into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in the valuation techniques as follows:

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that Banff Centre can access at the measurement date

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly

Level 3: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability are categorized in different levels of the fair value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorized in its entirety in the same level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input (where Level 3 is the lowest) that is significant to the entire measurement. Banff Centre recognizes transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the reporting period during which the change has occurred.

Note 5 Accounts and grants receivable

	_	2020	2019
Trade accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts	\$	1,515	\$ 1,872
Grant, participant and other receivables	_	1,563	423
	\$	3,078	\$ 2,295

Accounts receivable are unsecured and non-interest bearing. No significant amounts are past due more than 90 days at March 31 of the current and prior year.

Note 6 Note receivable and deferred charge

	 2020	2019
Discounted present value of advance to RMCHA	\$ 673 \$	650
Accrued interest	26	26
Deferred charge	-	17
Balance, end of year	\$ 699	693

Banff Centre advanced a total of \$673 to Rocky Mountain Cooperative Housing Association (RMCHA) for the right to lease 42 accommodation units. In December 2005, the terms of the note were modified to discontinue the accrual of interest. The unsecured note was repayed to Banff Centre in April 2020.

The note receivable was discounted to a present value. The discount was amortized using the effective interest method. The deferred charge was amortized over the lease period.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

March 31, 2020

(in thousands of dollars, except where specifically expressed in millions)

Note 7 Capital assets

Capital assets				0000		
	-			2020		
		land	Buildings	Equipment,	Property under development	
		Land improvements	and improvements	furnishings and software	(PUD)	Total
Cost	-	improvements	improvements	Soliware	(1 0D)	TOTAL
Beginning of year	\$	2,802	190,286	40,485	1,421	234,994
Additions	Ψ	2,002	2,504	909	3,262	6,675
PUD transfers		_	105	-	(105)	-
Write off		_	-	_	(46)	(46)
	•	2,802	192,895	41,394	4,532	241,623
Accumulated amortization	-	•	·	•	·	· · · · · ·
Beginning of year		2,694	59,804	31,339		93,837
Amortization expense		2,094	3,719	2,114	_	5,850
Amortization expense	-	2,711	63,523	33,453		99,687
Net book value - March 31, 2020	\$	91 \$	129,372	<u>.</u>	3 4,532 \$	141,936
,	*	<u></u>	,		,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	
				2019		
	-		Buildings	Equipment,	Property under	
		Land	and	furnishings and	development	
	_	improvements	improvements	software	(PUD)	Total
Cost						
Beginning of year	\$	2,802	190,436	41,015	169 \$	234,422
Additions		-	288	671	1,252	2,211
Adjustments		-	(438)	-	-	(438)
Disposals	-	-		(1,201)	-	(1,201)
	-	2,802	190,286	40,485	1,421	234,994
Accumulated amortization						
Beginning of year		2,677	56,008	30,316	-	89,001
Amortization expense		17	3,796	2,224	-	6,037
Disposals	_	-	-	(1,201)	-	(1,201)
		2,694	59,804	31,339	-	93,837
Net book value - March 31, 2019	\$	108 \$	130,482	9,146 \$	1,421 \$	141,157
Cash flow information					2020	2019
Total capital asset additions				9	6,675 \$	2,211
Capital assets acquired under capita	ıl le	ase facility, excludi	ng sale-leasebac	ks	(541)	(662)
Change in accounts payable balances related to capital asset additions					(1,526)	4,147
Cash used for capital asset additions	S	·		\$	4,608 \$	5,696
Banff Centre enters into sale-leaseb	ack	transactions where	e the leasebacks	constitute capital a	ssets. Proceeds rec	eived were as
follows:					2020	2019
Sally Borden Building improvements				\$		388
Information technology and systems		rastructure		•	- -	914
miorination teernlology and systems	0.101	asii asiai 6			<u> </u>	314

The capital assets leased back were recognized at their carrying values and the lease liabilities were recognized at the present value of the minimum lease payments. No gains or losses were recognized.

1,302

\$

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

March 31, 2020

(in thousands of dollars, except where specifically expressed in millions)

Note 7 Capital assets (continued)

Other information

Land is leased from the Government of Canada at a nominal annual rent of one dollar. The current lease expires on July 31, 2043 and is renewable.

Equipment, furnishings and software includes vehicles, furniture, fixtures, computer hardware, software, other equipment and implementation costs related to software.

Included in the cost of capital assets at March 31, 2020 is approximately \$4.1 million (2019 - \$3.9 million) related to assets under capital leases. The amortization expense related to assets under capital leases for the year ended March 31, 2020 was \$0.5 million (2019 - \$0.6 million). The accumulated amortization at March 31, 2020 includes \$1.3 million (2019 - \$0.8 million) related to assets under capital leases.

Banff Centre holds permanent collections of both library materials and artwork. Due to the subjective nature of the value of these assets, they are not included in capital assets. There were no additions to permanent collections in 2020 (2019 - \$6). As of March 31, 2020, the cumulative historical cost of these assets that has not been capitalized is \$1.6 million (2019 - \$1.6 million).

Note 8 Unearned revenue and deposits

	_	2020	2019
Deposits for accommodations	\$	1,112	\$ 2,703
Other sales and services		219	1,086
	\$	1,331	\$ 3,789

Note 9 Deferred contributions

Deferred contributions are comprised of unexpended externally restricted grants, donations and endowment investment earnings available for spending. Substantially all of the operating deferred contributions and earnings are restricted to support arts and leadership programming in addition to financial assistance for program participants. Other deferred contributions are restricted for capital and maintenance projects.

			2019	
		Capital/		
	 Operating	Maintenance	Total	Total
Balance, beginning of year	\$ 24,968	5,637	30,605 \$	30,278
Grants and contributions received or receivable	3,369	6,399	9,768	6,710
Restricted investment (loss) earnings (note 17)	(1,078)	222	(856)	3,413
Recognized as operating revenue:				
Grants and contributions	(4,851)	(496)	(5,347)	(6,588)
Restricted investment earnings (note 17)	(3,158)	-	(3,158)	(2,842)
Transfers to fund capital acquisitions (note 10)	-	(4,251)	(4,251)	(366)
Balance, end of year	19,250	7,511	26,761	30,605
Current portion of deferred contributions	9,109	6,594	15,703	13,091
Long-term deferred contributions	\$ 10,141 \$	917 \$	11,058 \$	17,514

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

March 31, 2020

(in thousands of dollars, except where specifically expressed in millions)

Note 10 Deferred expended capital contributions

Deferred expended capital contributions represent the unamortized contributions and grants received to fund capital acquisitions. The amortization of deferred expended capital contributions is recorded as revenue in the consolidated statement of operations. Changes in the deferred expended capital contributions balances are as follows:

	 2020	2019
Balance, beginning of year	\$ 102,891 \$	106,360
Transferred from deferred contributions to acquire capital assets (note 9)	4,251	366
Amortization revenue	 (3,670)	(3,835)
Balance, end of year	\$ 103,472 \$	102,891

Note 11 Loans and borrowings

	Maturity	Interest Rate (%)	2020	2019
Debenture payable to Alberta Capital				
Finance Authority	June 2027	2.06	\$ 13,191	\$ 14,000
Capital lease facility				
Capital leases	November 2019 - April 2024	2.90 - 3.48	2,350	2,978
Progress payment advances	On demand	RBC prime	1,032	662
Demand operating facility	On demand	RBC prime	1,250	1,120
			 17,823	18,760
Current portion of loans and borrowings			 4,950	3,528
Long-term loans and borrowings			\$ 12,873	\$ 15,232

In June 2017, Banff Centre borrowed \$14.0 million from the Alberta Capital Finance Authority (ACFA) to fund renovations to Lloyd Hall, one of Banff Centre's residence facilities. Until June 15, 2019, only interest was payable, with principal repayable semi-annually in the eight years thereafter. The debenture is secured by a first priority General Security Agreement (GSA) covering Banff Centre property with the exception of property leased or acquired under the Royal Bank of Canada (RBC) lease facility described below.

Banff Centre has borrowing facilities available from RBC consisting of a revolving demand facility for general operating requirements and a revolving lease facility for the acquisition of capital assets. Borrowings under the revolving demand facility are available by way of loans and letters of guarantee. The aggregate of the borrowings under the revolving demand facility and lease facility shall not exceed \$12.0 million, and the lease facility on its own is capped at \$10.0 million. The revolving demand facility bears interest at RBC prime, and any issued and outstanding letters of guarantee are subject to fees. The interest rate and repayment terms on leases are fixed by way of separate agreements at the time each lease is executed. Progress payment advances on leases are due on demand and bear interest at RBC prime. The RBC borrowing facility is secured by property leased or acquired under the facility and a second priority claim on other Banff Centre property. Capital leases and amounts drawn under the RBC facilities are included in the table above. The demand operating facility is used as bridge financing to be replaced by expected borrowings under the lease facility that were not finalized prior to the fiscal year end.

Banff Centre also has borrowing facilities available with Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce ("CIBC") consisting of a \$2.0 million revolving demand facility for general operating requirements and a \$0.2 million letter of credit facility available through commercial letters of credit. Borrowings under the revolving demand facility bear interest at CIBC prime, and any issued and outstanding commercial letters of credit are subject to fees. As at March 31, 2020, commercial letters of credit of \$75 (2019 - \$75) were issued and outstanding under the CIBC facilities.

Interest expense on loans and borrowings for the year ended March 31, 2020 was \$461 (2019 - \$407). Interest expense approximates interest paid for both fiscal years and is included in the institutional support category of functional expense.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

March 31, 2020

(in thousands of dollars, except where specifically expressed in millions)

Note 11 Loans and borrowings (continued)

Principal and interest payments are due as follows:

	 Principal	Interest	Total
2021	\$ 4,950 \$	336 \$	5,286
2022	2,447	260	2,707
2023	2,184	205	2,389
2024	1,827	161	1,988
2025	1,791	123	1,914
Thereafter	 4,624	144	4,768
	\$ 17,823 \$	1,229 \$	19,052

Note 12 Employee future benefit liabilities

	 2020	2019
Share of UAPP pension obligation	\$ 2,048	\$ 2,030
Accrued administrative leave	303	242
	\$ 2,351	\$ 2,272

Banff Centre participates with other employers in the Public Service Pension Plan (PSPP) and the Universities Academic Pension Plan (UAPP). These pension plans are multi-employer defined benefit plans that provide pensions for Banff Centre's participating employees based on years of service and earnings.

(a) PSPP

As Banff Centre does not have sufficient information on the PSPP to follow the accounting standards for defined benefit plans, the plan is accounted for on a defined contribution basis. Accordingly, pension expense of \$1.3 million (2019 - \$1.3 million) recorded for the PSPP is comprised of employer contributions to the plan that are required for Banff Centre's employees during the year. Contributions are calculated based on actuarially predetermined amounts that are expected to provide the plan's future benefits. Pension expense is recorded as a direct cost, together with the related salaries and wages, and is reported in all expense categories in the consolidated statement of operations.

An actuarial valuation of the PSPP was carried out as at December 31, 2017 and was then extrapolated to December 31, 2018 and 2019. At December 31, 2019, the PSPP reported an actuarial surplus of \$2,761 million (December 31, 2018 - \$519 million) for the plan as a whole. Information related to the surplus as at March 31, 2020 reflecting the impact of COVID-19 and decline in investment values is not available (see Note 22).

(b) UAPP

The UAPP is a multi-employer defined benefit pension plan for academic staff members and other eligible employees. An actuarial valuation of the UAPP was carried out at December 31, 2018 and further extrapolated to March 31, 2020. Banff Centre's share of the benefit liability, which has been allocated based on employer contributions to the plan, is estimated to be \$2.0 million at March 31, 2020 (2019 - \$2.0 million). Banff Centre recorded its share of pension expense of \$1.5 million (2019 - \$0.8 million).

The significant actuarial assumptions used to measure the UAPP accrued benefit obligation for the plan as a whole and Banff Centre's share of the benefit obligation and benefit costs are as follows:

	 2020	2019
Accrued benefit obligation at March 31	\$ 31,971	\$ 30,476
Discount rate	5.60%	5.60%
Benefit costs for years ended March 31	\$ 1,113	\$ 902
Discount rate	5.60%	5.60%
Average compensation increase	3.00%	3.00%
Estimated average remaining service life	10.6 yrs	10.6 yrs

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

March 31, 2020

(in thousands of dollars, except where specifically expressed in millions)

Note 12 Employee future benefit liabilities (continued)

The UAPP unfunded deficiency for service prior to January 1, 1992 is financed by additional contributions of 1.25% of salaries by the Government of Alberta. Employees and employers share equally the balance of the contributions of 2.90% (2019 - 2.90%) of salaries required to eliminate the unfunded deficiency by December 31, 2043.

The unfunded deficiency at March 31, 2020 for the UAPP plan as a whole, before unamortized actuarial net losses, is \$1,276.2 million, of which the Government of Alberta share is \$266.2 million, the employer pool share is \$505.0 million and the employee pool share is \$505.0 million. Banff Centre's share of the unfunded deficiency for the employer pool at March 31, 2020 is \$5.6 million.

(c) Administrative leave

Banff Centre provides the President and CEO a paid leave of absence at the end of their administrative appointment, accrued during the period of employment. Upon completion of the term of service, the salary and benefits in effect at that time are paid for the duration of the leave. A lump sum payment may be taken at the end of the appointment with Board approval. During the year a contract extension was negotiated for an additional 3 years - the administrative benefit was extended to cover this period and will cap out at the originally negotiated maximum benefit of 18 months of salary.

Banff Centre's benefit expense for administrative leave totaled \$60 (2019 - \$60). The accrued benefit liability at March 31, 2020 is \$303 (2019 - \$243), with no benefits paid out or forfeited during the current and prior year. No assets are set aside to fund the liability as Banff Centre plans to use its working capital to finance this future obligation.

Note 13 Contractual obligations

Banff Centre is party to an agreement with YWCA Banff under which Banff Centre is committed to the rental of 12 housing units through September 2020. Under this agreement, the approximate monthly rent is \$8, with a portion recovered from staff through short-term rental arrangements. The total of this contractual obligation (before recoveries) over the remainder of the lease term is approximately \$46.

Banff Centre is party to a software as a service agreement with Campus Management Corporation and Blackbaud/Omatic under which Banff Centre is committed to the use of the software through January 2024 and March 2025, respectively.

As disclosed in note 11, Banff Centre also has contractual obligations related to capital leases, which include principal and interest payments due through the year ending March 31, 2025.

Contractual obligations are summarized as follows:

	YWCA lease	Software as a service contract	Capital leases - principal and interest		Total
\$	46	177	1,084	\$	1,307
	-	177	800		977
	-	177	482		659
	-	147	81		228
_	-	-	7		7
\$	46	\$ 678	\$ 2,454	\$	3,178
	\$ - \$_	\$ 46 - - - -	YWCA lease service contract \$ 46 177 - 177 177 - 147 - - - -	YWCA lease service contract interest \$ 46 177 1,084 - 177 800 - 177 482 - 147 81 - - 7	YWCA lease Software as a service contract principal and interest \$ 46 177 1,084 \$ - 177 800 - 177 482 - 147 81 - 7

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

March 31, 2020

(in thousands of dollars, except where specifically expressed in millions)

Note 14 Accumulated operating surplus

The changes in accumulated operating surplus are as follow		UAPP		
		Pension		
	Unrestricted	Deficit	2020	2019
_		(note 12)		
Accumulated operating surplus (deficit), beginning of year \$	18,980 \$	(2,030) \$	16,950 \$	16,175
Excess of revenue over expense	(1,183)	-	(1,183)	775
UAPP pension benefits adjustment	18	(18)	-	-
Accumulated operating surplus (deficit), end of year \$_	17,815	(2,048) \$	15,767 \$	16,950

Included in accumulated operating surplus is \$18.6 million (2019 - \$19.1 million) representing the amount of surplus that has been invested in capital assets.

2020

Note 15 Endowments

	_	2020	2019
Endowments, beginning of year	\$	41,486	\$ 40,476
Contributions	_	1,970	1,010
Endowments, end of year	\$	43,456	\$ 41,486

Endowments, which are permanent, are held for the sole benefit of Banff Centre and consist of externally restricted donations and matching funds from Canadian Heritage under Canada Cultural Investment Fund's Endowment Incentives Component. Included in the endowment balance at March 31, 2020 are cumulative matching funds received through the Endowment Incentives Component of \$14.9 million (2019 - \$14.2 million). Contributions for the year ended March 31, 2020 include \$652 (2019 - \$451) of funds received through the matching program.

Endowments are managed in accordance with the terms of the agreements between Banff Centre and the individual donors, with investment earnings used in accordance with the various purposes established by the agreements and Banff Centre's Board of Governors. Endowments are held by The Banff Centre Foundation and Banff Canmore Community Foundation (an unrelated public charitable foundation), with balances as follows:

	2020	2019
The Banff Centre Foundation Banff Canmore Community Foundation	\$ 35,316 \$ 8,140	33,346 8,140
	\$ 43,456 \$	41,486

Under the Post-Secondary Learning Act (Alberta), Banff Centre has the authority to alter the terms and conditions of endowments to enable: (1) income earned by the endowment to be withheld from distribution to avoid fluctuations in the amounts distributed and generally to regulate the distribution of income earned by the endowment, and (2) encroachment on the capital of the endowment to avoid fluctuations in the amounts distributed and generally to regulate the distribution of income earned by the endowment if, in the opinion of the Board of Governors, the encroachment benefits Banff Centre and does not impair the long-term value of the fund.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

March 31, 2020

(in thousands of dollars, except where specifically expressed in millions)

Note 16 Government grants

	 2020	2019
Base operating grant from Alberta Advanced Education	\$ 17,518	\$ 17,830
Other Government of Alberta grants:		
Alberta Advanced Education	2,243	3,779
Alberta Culture and Tourism	169	167
	\$ 19,930	\$ 21,776
Federal government grants:		
Government of Canada - Department of Canadian Heritage		
Canada Arts Training Fund	\$ 2,200	\$ 2,200
Canada Arts Presentation Fund	150	125
Celebrate Canada	5	4
Canada Council for the Arts	681	299
	\$ 3,036	\$ 2,628

Note 17 Investment earnings

	 2020	2019
Total investment (loss) earnings	\$ (739) \$	3,570
Restricted investment loss (earnings) flowing through deferred contributions (note 9)	856	(3,413)
Restricted investment earnings expended in accordance with		
donor requirements (note 9)	3,158	2,842
	\$ 3,275 \$	2,999

Note 18 Salaries, wages and employee benefits

The salaries, wages and employee benefit expenses of Banff Centre include:

	 2020	2019
Salaries, wages and non-pension benefits	\$ 37,649	\$ 36,183
Pension benefits	 2,857	2,113
	\$ 40,506	\$ 38,296

Note 19 Budget

Budgeted amounts have been provided for comparative purposes and are derived from Banff Centre's Comprehensive Institutional Plan as approved by the Board of Governors.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

March 31, 2020

(in thousands of dollars, except where specifically expressed in millions)

Note 20 Expense by object

	2020			2019	
		Budget		Actual	Actual
Salaries, wages and benefits (note 18)	\$	39,541	\$	40,506	\$ 38,296
Purchased services		6,161		5,431	6,092
Materials, goods and supplies		5,622		4,675	4,668
Scholarships and financial assistance		4,323		3,854	3,900
Facility operations and maintenance		4,672		2,753	3,505
Utilities		1,759		1,815	1,716
Travel, training and related costs		2,328		2,188	2,178
Rentals and equipment		2,253		1,996	2,539
Marketing and recruitment		1,648		1,226	1,303
Financial costs		983		1,068	1,013
Amortization of capital assets (note 7)		6,052		5,852	6,037
	\$	75,342	\$	71,364	\$ 71,247

Scholarships and financial assistance include payments to resident artists and program participants for tuition, fees, accommodations and other program related costs.

Note 21 Related parties

Banff Centre is a related party with organizations within the Government of Alberta reporting entity. Key management personnel of Banff Centre and their close family members are also considered related parties. Banff Centre may enter into transactions with these entities and individuals in the normal course of operations and under normal terms.

Note 22 COVID-19

On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization (WHO) declared COVID-19 a pandemic. The information recognized and disclosed in these financial statements thus considers the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic as an in-year event. In early March 2020, Banff Centre started to experience conference cancellations that extended into June. These cancelations, which impact conference room revenue and associated food and beverage revenue, have continued into September. All Banff Centre residences/hotels, restaurants and facilities have since been closed to the public. In addition, all programming and public events and gatherings have been cancelled or deferred until September, and Banff National Park was essentially closed to the public effective March 25, 2020. In response to the severe and almost immediate financial impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, over 400 employees representing more than 75% of Banff Centre's work force were temporarily laid off in March 2020. Management is currently assessing the longer term financial impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on Banff Centre and scenarios/strategies for recovery. The duration and impact of COVID-19 are unknown at this time and it is not possible to reliably estimate the impact that the length and severity of these developments will have on the financial results, valuation of investments and pension obligations of Banff Centre in future periods. Based on management's assessment, no impairment related to financial or non-financial assets should be recorded as at March 31, 2020.

Governance

Banff Centre Board of Governors

Adam Waterous, Chair – Banff, AB
Janice Price, ICD.D, President
and CEO – Banff, AB
Ron Hallman – Kemptville, ON
Eric S. Harvie – Banff, AB
Laura Haynes – London,
United Kingdom
Andy Kenins, ICD.D – Oakville, ON

Andy Kenins, ICD.D - Oakville, ON Donna Kennedy-Glans Q.C.

- Calgary, AB

Judith LaRocque, ICD.D - Ottawa, ON Letha J. MacLachlan, Q.C.

- Calgary, AB

Cherith Mark - Stoney, AB

Gay Mitchell, ICD.D - Toronto, ON

Raif Richardson - Winnipeg, MB

Patricia Ruby - Calgary, AB

Jeff van Steenbergen - Calgary, AB

Lis Welch - Vancouver, BC

Patricia Brister - FEA, ICD.D

- Calgary, AB (to August 2020)

Carolyn Campbell – Edmonton, AB (to May 2020)

Larry Fichtner, Vice Chair

- Calgary, AB (to October 2019)

Evaleen Jaager Roy – Vancouver, BC (to October 2019)

John Snow - Calgary, AB (to August 2019)

David Weyant, Q.C., ICD.D, Chair – Calgary, AB (to August 2019)

The Banff Centre Foundation Board of Directors

Tim Kitchen, ICD.D (Chair)

- Calgary, AB

Gavin Berger - New York, USA

Delia Cristea - Montreal, QC

Andy Kenins, ICD.D - Toronto, ON

Susan P. Kololian - Toronto, ON

Sandy Martin - Calgary, AB

Michael S. H. McMillan, CMA, CPA

- Toronto, ON

Janice Price, ICD.D (ex officio)

- Banff, AB

Jill Price - Vancouver, BC

Jackson von der Ohe - Edmonton, AB

Adam Waterous (ex officio)

- Calgary, AB

J. Mark MacDonald, ICD.D

- Toronto, ON (to July 2020)

David Weyant, Q.C., ICD.D (ex officio)

- Calgary, AB (to August 2019)

Banff Centre Senior Leadership Team

Janice Price, ICD.D,
President and CEO

Bruce Byford, Vice President, Administration and CFO

Michael Code, Vice President, Operations

David Cox, General Counsel & External Relations

Howard R. Jang, Vice President, Arts and Leadership

Valerie Kapay, Vice President, Human Resources

Rosemary Thompson, Vice President, Marketing and Development (to July 2020)



Banff Centre for Arts and Creativity is generously supported by many passionate individuals, corporations and foundations.

Banff Centre is also grateful for the funding from the Government of Alberta, through Alberta Advanced Education, Alberta Infrastructure, and the Alberta Foundation for the Arts. Arts programs are also supported by funding from the Government of Canada through the Canada Council for the Arts, the Department of Canadian Heritage, the Canada Arts Training Fund and the Canada Arts Presentation Fund.



Canadä



Conseil des Arts



Tel: 403.762.6100 www.banffcentre.ca